

Title	Ecosystem benefits of floating offshore wind
Authors	Haberlin, Damien;Cohuo, Alfonso;Doyle, Thomas K.
Publication date	2022
Original Citation	Haberlin, D., Cohuo, A. and Doyle, T. K. (2022) Ecosystem benefits of floating offshore wind. Cork: MaREI – Science Foundation Ireland Centre for Energy, Climate and Marine, University College Cork.
Type of publication	Report
Rights	© 2022, the Authors. This work is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License. You must give appropriate credit, provide a link to the license, and indicate if changes were made. You may do so in any reasonable manner, but not in any way that suggests the licensor endorses you or your use https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/
Download date	2025-08-15 20:50:14
Item downloaded from	https://hdl.handle.net/10468/13967



University College Cork, Ireland Coláiste na hOllscoile Corcaigh



# **Ecosystem Benefits of Floating Offshore Wind**

MaREI – Science Foundation Ireland Centre for Energy, Climate and Marine, University College Cork

Damien Haberlin | Alfonso Cohuo | Thomas K. Doyle







# Ecosystem Benefits of Floating Offshore Wind

# 2022

Damien Haberlin, Alfonso Cohuo and Thomas K. Doyle

MaREI – Science Foundation Ireland Centre for Energy, Climate and Marine University College Cork

Report produced for Simply Blue Group

This report should be cited as: Haberlin, D., Cohuo, A., & Doyle, T. K. 2022. Ecosystem benefits of Floating offshore Wind. Report for Simply Blue Energy Group. MaREI, University College Cork, 47 pp.

This work is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License.

You must give appropriate credit, provide a link to the license, and indicate if changes were made. You may do so in any reasonable manner, but not in any way that suggests the licensor endorses you or your use.

# Table of contents

1	Introduction	— 1
2	Environmental Impacts of Offshore Energy Development	2
2.1	Changes To the Atmosphere and Ocean Dynamics Due to Energy Removal —	3
2.2	Sound Pollution (noise)	— 3
2.3	Electromagnetic Fields (EMF)	4
2.4	Habitat Modification	— 5
2.5	Barrier Effects	— 5
<b>2.6</b>	Water Quality – Chemical Pollution	6
2.7	Fisheries Exclusion	6
3	Floating Offshore Wind Infrastructure	— 7
4	Potential Ecosystem Benefits of Floating Offshore Wind	—— 10
5	Fisheries Exclusion	11
5.1	Impacts of Commercial Fishing	—— 12
5.1.1	What is Benthic-pelagic coupling – why is it important?	—— 13
5.1.2	Important ecosystem engineers – biogenic habitats	—— 14
5.1.3	Benthic ecosystem recovery	—— 17
<b>5.2</b>	Ecosystem Benefits of Area Protection	—— 17
5.3	Ecosystem Benefits - Fixed Bottom Offshore Wind Farms	18
5.4	Local, Regional, and Cumulative Effects	—— 18
5.4.1	Spill-over and larval subsidy	18
5.4.2	Displacement of fishing effort	19
5.4.3	Scale	20

# Table of Contents

6.	Habitat Modification	21
<b>6.1</b> .	Artificial Reefs	21
6.1.1	Fish aggregating devices - FADs	21
<b>6.2</b>	Ecosystem Benefits of Artificial Reefs and Fish Aggregating Devices ———	22
6.2.1	Artificial reefs on oil and gas platforms	23
6.2.2	Artificial reefs and offshore wind farms	24
6.2.3	Floating aggregating devices	25
<b>6.3</b>	Local, Regional, and Cumulative Effects	26
7	Wake Effects	27
7.1	Ecosystem Benefits of The Wake Effect	27
7.2	Local, Regional, and Cumulative Effects	29
8	Concluding Remarks and Recommendations	30
8.1	Knowledge Gaps	31
8.2	Future Research	32

The offshore renewable energy (ORE) sector is at a crucial moment with multiple governments enacting policies and legislation that will decisively accelerate the expansion of offshore renewable energy globally. Floating offshore wind energy will become increasingly important over the next decade and this report seeks to elucidate the potential ecosystem benefits of floating offshore wind energy developments. The known ecosystem impacts of ORE fall under 7 broad categories:

- Changes to the atmosphere and ocean/energy removal
- Sound pollution
- Electromagnetic Fields (EMF)
- Habitat modification artificial reef effect
- Barrier effects
- Water quality chemical pollution
  - Fisheries exclusion and displacement

There is general acceptance that habitat modification and the fisheries exclusion have the potential to confer substantial ecosystem benefits, while changes to the atmosphere and ocean are tentatively identified as potentially having some ecosystem benefits. Floating offshore wind (FOW) developments are likely to result in partial or complete restrictions on fishing activities within the boundaries of a development, essentially creating non-statutory marine protected areas, also called Other Effective Area-based Conservations Measures (OECMs). This is important because overexploitation and damage from bottom trawling results in a substantial decrease in biodiversity, abundance, and biomass, particularly on benthic biogenic reef habitats, with negative implications for fundamentally important ecosystem functions and services. The exclusion of damaging activity such as trawling allows benthic habitats to recover, developing diverse and complex infaunal and epifaunal communities, attracting more mobile species, and enhancing benthic-pelagic coupling which is vital for ecosystem functioning. The evidence from existing marine protected areas highlights the ecosystem benefits of area closures, positively impacting biodiversity, abundance, organism size, and abundance compared with surrounding unprotected areas. Five key features which increase MPA efficacy are 1. no take, 2. Enforcement, 3. More than 10 years old, 4. More than 100 km2, and 5. Isolated by deep water or sand.

FOW infrastructure can act as artificial reefs and fish aggregating devices (FADs) which increase habitat complexity and positively influence biodiversity by providing refugia, nursery grounds, and enhanced larval settlement. The degree to which FOW devices will act as FADs and artificial reefs is not well understood, however, recent surveys on the Hywind Scotland spar turbines recorded 121 epifaunal and mobile species. Evidence suggests that similar oil and gas (O&G) platforms are among the most productive marine fish habitats, comparable with designed reef habitats, benefiting pelagic and demersal fish species, and hosting diverse invertebrate communities. O&G platforms also attract a diverse range of large migratory species, including fish, sharks, reptile, marine mammals, and turtles, although, the nature of their interaction with structures remains poorly understood.

FOW farms are likely to create oceanographic change, or a wake effect, via two main mechanisms: 1) Current flows flowing around infrastructure will create a wake effect, and 2) wind flow over and around an array of turbines will create a wind shear that can generate vertical rotation in the water column, i.e., upwelling and downwelling. These wakes increase turbulence and vertical mixing which can enhance primary productivity, with positive bottom-up effects for mid and high trophic level taxa. The increased turbulence also creates valuable foraging and resting opportunities for larger mobile species.

The most likely ecosystem benefits of FOW will accrue because of area protection in combination with the artificial reef (and FAD) effect. There are possible positives and negatives associated with any oceanographic wake effect and the scale and magnitude of these is uncertain at present. The ecosystem impacts of multiple FOW developments across large continental shelf regions remain highly uncertain and research priorities need to address cumulative spatial and temporal impacts at the population level of potentially impacted species. Achieving these goals will require greater collaboration at regional and international levels, working towards shared standards of data collection and analysis, and adapting the current regulatory approach to ensure ecosystem benefits can be detected in a cost-effective manner.

#### Figure 1.

#### Figure 2.

#### Figure 3.

#### Figure 4.

# **1. Introduction**

The offshore renewable energy (ORE) sector is at a crucial moment with multiple governments enacting policies and legislation that will decisively accelerate the expansion of offshore renewable energy globally. To date, Europe has led the way, beginning in the early 90s with the first fixed bottom wind turbines, increasing from 0.8 GW in 2006 to 3.3 GW in 2021 (Breton and Moe, 2009; Causon and Gill, 2018; Wieczorek et al., 2013). In 2021, an additional 21.1 GW of offshore wind capacity was commissioned, and growth is expected to continue, adding a further 90 GW from 2022 - 2026 (Global Wind Energy Council, 2022). A large proportion of recently commissioned offshore energy developments are in China, although the US, Brazil, Australia, India, and other countries are progressing their own plans (Global Wind Energy Council, 2022).

This expansion in ORE is clearly driven by the need to reduce greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions as human society strives to stay within a 1.5 °C average global temperature increase. Failure to achieve this has enormous negative implications for individual and societal health and wellbeing. Likewise, every incremental increase in warming up to and beyond 1.5 °C will result in increasingly severe environmental change, damage, and the loss of terrestrial and marine ecosystems globally. In terrestrial ecosystems, warming of 1.5 - 5 °C means 14 - 48% of species face a very high risk of extinction (Bednar-Friedl et al., 2022). Marine biodiversity is difficult to assess because we do not fully understand the number of extant species (Appeltans et al., 2012; Foggo et al., 2003; McQuatters-Gollop et al., 2022), however, warming of 1.5 °C means moderate to very high risks of biodiversity loss. Endemic species in biodiversity hotspots will be particularly vulnerable and increased warming, from 1.5 – 3 °C may result in a 10-fold increase in losses (Bednar-Friedl et al., 2022). In this context, the single greatest ecosystem benefit accruing from a sustainable transition to renewable energy will be a global benefit - the conservation of countless species and ecosystems (Snyder and Kaiser, 2009). While it is important to always keep this in mind, the expansion of ORE will include the construction, operation and decommissioning of infrastructure which will have ecosystem impacts at a local and regional scales, and these impacts are the focus of this report. Specifically, this report seeks to elucidate the potential ecosystem benefits of floating offshore wind energy developments.

# 2. Environmental Impacts of Offshore Energy Development

Environmental assessments and research efforts to date have largely been concerned with understanding the potential risks and negative ecosystem impacts of ORE developments (Bailey et al., 2014; Copping et al., 2020; Gill, 2005). This is understandable, as identifying and quantifying adverse impacts (stressors) is clearly important and might be considered a 'need to know,' whereas potential ecosystem benefits were likely considered a less important 'nice to know' (Wilson et al., 2010). This has resulted in large knowledge gaps that must be addressed, as developing a more complete understanding of all ecosystems effects is vital for planning where future sites will be situated as part of a fully integrated ecosystem-based MSP framework. Another reason for the slower realization or recognition of ecosystem benefits is simply because, until developments were constructed and operational for several years, this knowledge did not exist. Now that there have been large scale developments in operation for >10 years, it is becoming clear that there are ecosystem benefits associated with fixed bottom wind farms, and some of the potential risks are perhaps not as severe as predicted (Inger et al., 2009; Wilson et al., 2010; Wilson and Elliott, 2009). Recent reviews/reports do an excellent job of collating all the relevant research, capturing ecosystem impacts under 7 broad categories, and showing that the specific effects of different technologies will depend on the habitat type and the species communities within (Boehlert and Gill, 2010; Copping et al., 2016; Farr et al., 2021; Gill, 2005; Gill et al., 2020; Hammar et al., 2016; Inger et al., 2009). In no order of importance, the 7 categories are:

- Changes to the atmosphere and ocean/energy removal
- Sound pollution
- Electromagnetic Fields (EMF)
- Habitat modification artificial reef effect
- Barrier effects
- Water quality chemical pollution
- Fisheries exclusion and displacement

# 2.1 Changes To the Atmosphere and Ocean Dynamics Due to Energy Removal

Studies on fixed bottom wind farms demonstrate changes in wave height, current velocity, and turbulence within and downstream of farms have the potential to effect turbidity, light penetration, and primary productivity, with both positive and negative implications for pelagic and benthic ecosystems (Carpenter et al., 2016; Cazenave et al., 2016; Inger et al., 2009; van der Molen et al., 2014). In general, models indicate that wind farms will have relatively small ecosystem effects, particularly in shallower tidally mixed areas (Carpenter et al., 2016; van der Molen et al., 2014), however, larger scale wind farms may begin to impact seasonal stratification and thus vertical mixing with more significant ecosystems effects (Carpenter et al., 2016). Investigations using remote sensing (LIDAR and satellites) indicate that wind farms also create an atmospheric wake, with reduced wind velocity and increased turbulence extending approximately 5-20 km downstream, although there is no horizontal dispersion of the wake (Porté-Agel et al., 2020). The atmospheric wake from FOW is unlikely to differ and although turbines will be substantially larger than current fixed bottom turbines, it is unclear if this will affect wake dispersion. Although FOW turbines will use mooring systems rather than a monopile or jacket that descends to the seafloor (section 3), hydrodynamic models suggest that wind shear around the turbines will create a substantial wake effect, with upwelling and downwelling downstream of the farm (Ludewig, 2015). The potential ecosystem impacts are likely to be the same as those outlined for fixed bottom, although due to the greater depth there may be less impact on the benthic ecosystem. The wake effect may benefit some mobile predators, providing an enhanced area of foraging (Lieber et al., 2019) and potentially enhance primary productivity, benefiting higher trophic levels, however, the overall ecosystem impact remains uncertain.

# 2.2 Sound Pollution (noise)

Sound (noise) will be generated by all human activities associated with every phase of ORE development. Installation, particularly if it involves piling, and decommissioning will be periods of increased sound pollution, although these tend to be short in duration. Operational sound will be less intense and may not be continuous, but it remains a concern to regulators (Copping et al., 2016). Although not fixed to the sea floor, some FOW mooring systems may still require piling, for example, tension leg platforms (TLP), but the intensity and duration will not be great by comparison with fixed bottom turbine.

Operational noise from gearboxes, tower vibration and generators are low frequency, at low decibel levels, and is considered unlikely to negatively affect most species (Farr et al., 2021). The highest measured sound pressure level from an operational fixed bottom turbine is 137 dB re 1  $\mu$ Pa at a distance of 40 m and emitted sound is attenuated rapidly with distance (Tougaard et al., 2020). Operational turbines sounds are 10 – 30 dB lower than ship sound in the same frequencies (Tougaard et al., 2020). It is expected that FOW, with its reduced submerged structures which are built into the sea floor, will reduce sound transmission to the environment. At present, there are no measured sounds levels for FOW, however, the FORTUNE project is Scotland is currently investigating this and results are expected in 2022. There is no evidence indicating that sound pollution will be beneficial to the receiving environment.

## 2.3 Electromagnetic Fields (EMF)

Electromagnetic fields are generated by devices and cables that carry an electrical current and many species are sensitive to EMF, using it to navigate (e.g., salmon), forage (e.g., elasmobranchs), and possibly communicate (Copping et al., 2016; Gill and Desender, 2020; Zoe L. Hutchison et al., 2020). At present EMF is considered unlikely to significantly alter survival and fitness of sensitive species (Farr et al., 2021; Gill and Desender, 2020; Taormina et al., 2020), however, studies outside the laboratory are few and a limited number of species have been investigated. Studies on fish and invertebrate species have demonstrated that EMFs produced by cables and other structures do not present a barrier, although behaviour can be affected. Exposure to the EMF from a buried high voltage direct current (HVDC) cable instigated increased foraging behaviour in a demersal skate species (Zoe L. Hutchison et al., 2020) and magnetic fields in lab experiments were found to affect the behaviour of brown crab and induce stress at levels likely to be emitted from buried cables (Scott et al., 2021, 2018). Many of these studies used small numbers of animals with a single cable or structure and uncertainty remains over the effect of a scaled-up development with extensive interconnecting cables, which may be buried, unburied and dynamic. In addition, in situ measurements on both HVDC and HVAC, carrying variable current magnitudes and emitting variable EMFs are lacking. The ecosystem impacts of EMF remain uncertain, particularly with respect to scale and cumulative effects.

# **2.4 Habitat Modification**

Habitat modification includes the introduction of novel structures that will inevitably provide new habitat, which is often called the 'reef effect.' The reef effect can be perceived as either positive or negative, with some concerns including the effect of biofouling on device operation and colonization by non-indigenous species. In Belgian waters, fixed bottom turbines are colonized by non-indigenous species, predominantly intertidal species, however, all these species were already established on artificial and natural substrates (Kerckhof et al., 2016). Kerckhof et al. (2016) concluded that existing subtidal turbine habitats will make a marginal contribution to the spread of non-indigenous species which would suggest that FOW with no intertidal area will likewise present a minimal risk. Nonetheless, the scale of future ORE developments and climate change mean that the monitoring of non-indigenous species must be maintained.

A growing body of literature suggest that the positives outweigh the negatives and artificial reefs can enhance biodiversity, increase invertebrate and fish biomass, especially when developments are placed on homogenous benthic habitats (Farr et al., 2021; Hammar et al., 2016; Inger et al., 2009; Langhamer, 2012). Fixed bottom turbines and the scour protection around them create substantial areas of reef habitat and while FOW will not have foundations, some anchoring systems and seabed cables will need some form of scour protection and/or rock armoring. Floating foundations will vary in size and depth depending on the design used and will (Gavin & Doherty Geosolutions, 2022; Zountouridou et al., 2015), with the possible exception of spar type turbines, present a greater 3-dimensional area for biofouling and reef formation in comparison with fixed bottom. Moreover, large floating structures are known to attract a wide variety of large mobile fauna and their ability to create a living reef with permanent, semi-permanent and transient fauna suggests they can be a net ecosystem benefit (Claisse et al., 2014). FOW will create artificial reefs in the benthic and pelagic habitats leading to some demonstratable ecosystem benefits (Farr et al., 2021; Hammar et al., 2016).

# **2.5 Barrier Effects**

Barrier effects include both collision risk for seabirds and marine mammals, and the imposition of large potentially inaccessible areas that will force migrating or foraging animals to increase travel distances to avoid ORE developments. Collision risk for seabirds remains a prominent concern for regulators, although studies suggest that for many species, flying around developments is not energetically expensive, and they fly between turbines or beneath blades with low collision risk (Farr et al., 2021). Collision risk is multifactorial, depending on species, flight behaviour, location, distance from land, turbine spacing, visibility, lighting, blade colour, blade height and blade velocity (Adams et al., 2016; Ainley et al., 2015; Garthe and Hüppop, 2004; May et al., 2020). In terms of FOW, the increased distance from land will likely reduce the number of species at risk, and the larger turbine spacing will likely reduce the risk of collision. Collisions or entanglements between marine mammals and dynamic cables is discussed in the literature, although there is little anecdotal or quantitative evidence to indicate that this has ever been a problem for the large number of existing floating structures with the catenary or semi-taut mooring, which is most likely what FOW will use (Copping et al., 2020; Farr et al., 2021). Secondary entanglement with lines and nets caught on mooring lines and cables may be a moderate risk for large baleen whales (Benjamins et al., 2014). There is no evidence that the barrier effect has any beneficial effect on the receiving environment.

# 2.6 Water Quality – Chemical Pollution

Chemicals will leach into the water from antifouling and anti-corrosion paints or coatings applied to structures. In addition, sacrificial anodes will mean a substantial quantity of aluminium (maybe other metals) per structure will enter the ecosystem. There are a range of negative effects associated with biocidal antifouling coatings and with the long-term presence of ORE structures there is a risk of bioaccumulation in the immediate sediment around structures (Copping et al., 2016). Spills of mineral oils, lubricants, hydraulic fluids, and other petroleum-based compounds is a risk, although it is deemed low (Karlsson et al., 2022). There is no evidence that any of these chemical pollutants will have a beneficial effect on the receiving environment.

# **2.7 Fisheries Exclusion**

Commercial fishing and particularly benthic trawling does significant damage to the marine ecosystems by removing large mature fish and destroying benthic habitat (Jennings and Kaiser, 1998; Kaiser et al., 2006, 2000). Regulations within ORE sites will likely vary from country to country, for example, Belgium prohibits all fishing inside ORE sites but Germany and the UK allow some types (Gill et al., 2020). Given the depth, distance from shore and exposure of most FOW sites, they will be largely inaccessible

to small coastal vessels. Moreover, it is likely that exclusion zones will be enforced around FOW sites, effectively closing these areas to all commercial or recreational fishing. This means that FOW sites may operate at a high level of protection – higher than many statutory partial MPAs created for the express purpose of nature conservation. The success of a site in terms of conservation and/or a return to a natural state is largely dependent on the size of the area, the duration of protection, and the level of protection (Costello and Ballantine, 2015). Area restrictions and closures may displace fishing effort, which is difficult to predict and quantify. Substantial displacement of effort into previously less intensively fished areas may well undermine the hoped-for ecosystem benefit from a wider regional perspective. Restrictions and displacement will be challenging for the fishing industry, however, if well managed as part of a coherent MPA network, these areas can potentially benefit the industry via enhanced larval recruitment and spillover effects of increased number of fish in none restricted areas.

# **3 Floating Offshore Wind Infrastructure**

The development of FOW turbines has predominantly taken place in Europe to date, with the first installation of a floating 'spar' turbine by Equinor in Norway, 2009, with a single 2.3 MW turbine anchored in 220 m depth. This turbine has survived 40 m-s winds and 19 m waves to date (Vicente, 2020). The first wind farm with five 6 MW turbines, also using the Equinor spar design, was installed off the Scottish coast, by Hywind Scotland, and is operational since 2017. Subsequent FOW developments include WindFloat Atlantic, off the Portuguese coast, and Kincardine Offshore Wind Farm, off the eastern Scottish coast, both using a semi-submersible concept design developed by Principle Power Inc. The Kincardine array (commissioned in 2021) is currently the largest floating wind farm in the world, comprising 5 turbines with a capacity of 9.5MW each (Chitteth Ramachandran et al., 2022).

The aforementioned and planned FOW farms use a number of design concepts at different levels of technology readiness: these 1) include buoyancy stabilized barge or semi-submersible platforms, 2) ballast stabilized spar buoy platforms, and 3) tension leg platforms (Gavin & Doherty Geosolutions, 2022; Zountouridou et al., 2015) (Figure 1). Each design aims to achieve stability through a combination of ballast, buoyancy, and mooring tension (Ikhennicheu et al., 2021). The ultimate design chosen at a particular site will depend on numerous factors including depth, significant wave height and wind speeds (metocean conditions), seabed characteristics, capacity of the nearest port, local supply chain capacity, and costs. For example, the spar buoy used by Hywind Scotland, with a draft of 78 m, are optimized for deep water and require deep-water harbouring for construction, integration, and wet storage. As such, they are well suited to deep fjords, e.g., Norway, but unsuitable for the shallow depths in Irish ports. In fact, many ports across Europe and all Irish ports, except for Belfast, lack the depth and facilities to support the ORE industry (Gavin & Doherty Geosolutions, 2022). Platforms can be manufactured using steel or concrete and the choice of material is likely to be influenced by design applicability, cost, carbon footprint and local supply chains. The type of material used by a project will likely come down to careful consideration of the factors outlined above and how they may impact on the development's CAPEX/OPEX costs, timeline, longevity, and ability to consent.



Figure 1. Semi-submersible and spar concepts are the most progressed in terms of Technology Readiness Level (TRL) with the Equinor and Principle Power Inc. designed projects that have been deployed to date, as discussed above. While these deployments have been largely successful, they are not considered optimal in all circumstances.

Mooring systems will be influenced by many of the same factors already outlined above, namely, depth, substrate type, metocean conditions etc. Commonly used anchoring systems include dead weight (gravity), driven pile, drag anchor, suction pile, torpedo pile, and vertical load anchor (Figure 2). In addition, the configuration of these mooring systems can vary considerably, with catenary moorings needing a greater 'swept area' of seabed when compared with taut moorings. TLP floaters will typically involve vertical or near-vertical mooring lines (See TPL in Figure 1), but other floater concepts may also consider taut moored solutions with greater splay angles, and ultimately the anchor type will depend heavily on the mooring configuration chosen (Ma et al., 2019).



Figure 2. Commonly used anchoring systems for offshore floating infrastructure.

Each platform design and its respective anchoring system will present different characteristics to the receiving marine environment, influencing the type of biofouling and reef community that will develop on the foundations, and the way in which large mobile vertebrates might use it. Catenary mooring lines will need greater area and literally sweep across the sea floor, whereas, taut or TLP mooring lines will rise immediately away from the sea floor. Each anchor type will present a variable area of hard surface for colonization, with different 3-dimensional shapes that may or may not act as a refugia for cryptic species.

# 4. Potential Ecosystem Benefits of Floating Offshore Wind

Considering all the known ecosystem impacts of offshore energy developments (Section 2), there is general acceptance that **habitat modification** and the **fisheries exclusion** have the potential to confer substantial ecosystem benefits (Gill et al., 2020; Hammar et al., 2016; Inger et al., 2009; Wilson et al., 2010; Wilson and Elliott, 2009). In addition, **changes to the atmosphere and ocean** are tentatively identified as potentially having some ecosystem benefits. These factors can positively effect biodiversity, abundance, biomass, and biogeochemical cycling (incl. carbon sequestration). These are fundamentally important for ecosystem functioning and services and can have positive effects over local and regional scales as offshore renewable energy is scaled up through the creation of artificial reefs on novel hard structures and the restoration of benthic and pelagic ecosystems.

The offshore floating wind industry is nascent, with the largest floating wind farm currently consisting of 5 turbines in Kincardine, Scotland (Chitteth Ramachandran et al., 2022), and therefore, the evidence for proven and potential ecosystem benefits must be gleaned from elsewhere. Substantial fixed bottom OWFs have been operational in the North Sea for 10 years or more and a lot of the studies presented in this report are based on fixed bottom wind turbines in <30 m of water. While some insights can undoubtedly be gleaned from fixed offshore turbines, the introduction of FOW turbines is likely to impact the ecosystem in different ways. Moored structures will move horizontally and vertically to some extent, and will not have an intertidal zone, which is likely to influence the biofouling and reef community that develops. Cables and mooring lines will introduce hard structures at far greater depths than current fixed bottom turbines (maximum 60 m depth) and are likely to develop different biofouling communities (Karlsson et al., 2022). The distance from the intertidal/coastal zone and increasing depth mean that the species community which colonize and associate with these artificial reefs may be unlike the nearest natural reef communities. Pelagic species are likely to use and aggregate around infrastructure, however, it is not clear that aggregation means an actual increase in abundance or biomass. Many of the potential ecosystem benefits that might arise from the installation of offshore floating wind are also identified as being knowledge gaps; artificial reef effects, changing fish community assemblages, the creation of 'no-take' or 'reduced-take zones' are all identified as topics in need of research (Wilson et al., 2010; Wilson and Elliott, 2009). Where developments take place is likely to be important: while the negative impacts of existing OWF have been less severe than predicted, caution is being advised in regions where

there is no expansive shelf, diverse and vulnerable benthic habitats, and protected areas that might be impacted (Lloret et al., 2022). Looking towards the oil and gas industry which has constructed and operated thousands of platforms across the world is useful for trying to predict the impact of FOW infrastructure, however, the number of empirical studies on this type of infrastructure is relatively small and gives us limited insight (McLean et al., 2022; Todd et al., 2016).

## **5. Fisheries Exclusion**

Offshore renewable energy developments are in competition for maritime space and commercial fisheries will most likely be the sector most effected (Gill et al., 2020; Methratta et al., 2020). FOW developments are likely to displace some fishing activities and force a partial or complete ban on fishing activities within the boundaries of the development. Depending on the country and specific health and safety concerns, fixed bottom developments exclude trawling, but may allow static gear like tangle nets and pots etc. Because of the complex mooring systems and cables in FOW developments it seems most likely that all mobile gear will be excluded from a FOW array area due to difficulties with navigation, safety, physical obstruction, snagging gear, all of which may impact insurance cover (Gill et al., 2020; Inger et al., 2009; Methratta et al., 2020). This will essentially create non-statutory marine protected areas, also called Other Effective Area-based Conservations Measures (OECMs), which are designated areas that preclude damaging human activities, despite the designation not explicitly being a conservation measure (IUCN, 2018). A broad definition states: "Private, local, community managed and non-statutory protected or semiprotected areas that are managed in a way that has conservation benefits all qualify as OECMs" (Diz et al., 2018). This is distinct from MPAs which are created and putatively managed for the purpose of conserving and/or restoring nature by conferring a higher level of legal protection compared with the surrounding area (Humphreys and Clark, 2020). MPAs can be placed on a scale of protection level - there is a 4-point scale from minimally protected to fully protected with zero extractions allowed (Grorud-Colvert et al., 2021). Presently, society is failing to meet marine conservation targets (Nature, 2020): the UN Convention on Biological Diversity (CBD) Aichi target 11, protecting 10% of coastal and marine areas by 2020 has not been achieved and there is a recognition that MPAs alone will not achieve future conservations goals. Arguably, OECMs and MPAs can be complementary in achieving protection for greater areas of the marine environment, if managed within a coherent marine spatial planning (MSP) framework (Diz et al., 2018; Estradivari et al., 2022; Rodríguez-Rodríguez et al., 2021).

Over-exploitation and damage from bottom trawling results in a substantial decrease in diversity, abundance, and biomass, particularly on benthic biogenic reef habitats (Dias et al., 2020; Freiwald et al., 2004; Kaiser et al., 2006, 2000; Maldonado et al., 2017; Ponti et al., 2021; Sala et al., 2021; Tillin et al., 2006). Without fishing pressure, it is estimated that the North Sea would have 100 times more large fish (Hoffmann, 2005; Jennings and Blanchard, 2004; Lotze and Worm, 2009). Moreover, the changes inflicted on the physical structure of the benthic habitat and the species community have negative implications for fundamentally important ecosystem functions and services (Jennings and Kaiser, 1998; Kaiser et al., 2006; Middelburg, 2018; Tillin et al., 2006).

Natural, pristine benthic habitats are rich diverse ecosystems with meiofauna (animals between 500 – 40 µm in size, e.g., nematode worms), large infauna (bivalves – clams etc), and epifauna (seapens, cnidarians (corals and anemones), sponges) living within and on the sediment. Epifauna and infauna (burrowers, diggers, also called bioturbators) are integral to the oceanic biogeochemical cycles and benthic-pelagic coupling and bottom trawling demonstrably reduces their abundance (Middelburg, 2018; Olsgard et al., 2008; Pikesley et al., 2021). The substrate type influences the type of community present; for example, mud and coarse sediments may be dominated by infauna and epifauna, respectively, however, in either case, trawling results in a reduction in the biomass and abundance of large slow growing species that provide structure and complexity which are positively associated with biodiversity (Olsgard et al., 2008; Pikesley et al., 2021). Damage from trawling is variable, depending on gear type and substrate type, ranging from partial to complete destruction, particularly where repeated trawling takes place. Intense trawling results in smaller, faster growing, faster maturing species, characterised by mobile scavenging fauna (Pikesley et al., 2021), whereas lightly trawled areas have larger bodied, slow growing and maturing species, dominated by sedentary fauna (Tillin et al., 2006). Intensely trawled areas are influenced by disturbance, whereas, pristine habitats are more influenced by interspecific competition for space and resources (Tillin et al., 2006), resulting in a more diverse and complex community, that create a more complex substrate – water boundary (i.e., benthic-pelagic coupling), which in turn encourages the presence of other epifauna to occupy the niches created.

Benthic-pelagic coupling refers to the transfer and processing of energy, oxygen, nutrients, and biomass between the pelagic and benthic habitats, and it influences biological productivity, community structure, and ecosystem or foodweb stability (Griffiths et al., 2017; Marcus and Boero, 1998; Rodil et al., 2020; Rowe et al., 1975). The substrate type (mud, sand, gravel, rock etc) and the infaunal and epifaunal species found therein have important implications for biogeochemical cycling (Ehrnsten et al., 2020; Middelburg, 2018; Norkko et al., 2013). Small species (e.g., nematodes) can double nutrient fluxes, while macrofauna (e.g., benthic clams) can increase nutrient fluxes by a factor of 2 – 10 times (Griffiths et al., 2017). Size can be an important, larger macrofauna have a disproportionate effect through enhanced bioturbation (Norkko et al., 2013). Bioturbation is the constant mixing and disturbance of the sediment, encouraging microbial growth which is vital for remineralizing nitrogen and silicate back into inorganic form, readily transferrable back into the water column (Olsgard et al., 2008). Macrofauna are tightly coupled to the pelagic ecosystem and primary production, responding rapidly to increases in phytoplankton growth and subsequent deposition of biomass to the seafloor (Rodil et al., 2020). The response varies between species and also varies depending on the life stage or maturity of a single species, with some species profiting directly from deposition while others profit from degraded/processed deposition made more available through meiofaunal or microbial action (Rodil et al., 2020). Furthermore, different species have variable effects on different nutrients, e.g., polychaete worms have a negligible effect on denitrification, but do enhance phosphorus retention in sediments (Norkko et al., 2013).

## 5.1.2 Important ecosystem engineers – biogenic habitats

Several groups of animals are particularly important at creating benthic habitat and thus likely to be important in restoring a natural ecosystem and benthic-pelagic coupling (Figure 3). These so called 'ecosystem engineers' build habitats that increase biodiversity by creating complex structure, creating shelter/refugia, enhancing settlement of other larvae, and enhancing foraging opportunities for mobile species (Bradshaw et al., 2001; Griffiths et al., 2017; Kaiser et al., 2006; Marcus and Boero, 1998; Miatta and Snelgrove, 2022; Tillin et al., 2006). Cold water corals (e.g., Lophelia pertusa) are emblematic of this group, but sponges, cnidarians, and sea pens (also sea feathers) are also important ecosystem engineers. Cold water corals can be found from 40 m depth down to 1000s m depth, and are often found in otherwise soft, muddy benthos, analogous to an island in an otherwise homogenous ecosystem – a biodiversity hotspot (Freiwald et al., 2004; Roberts et al., 2006). They are slow growing and fragile which make them particularly vulnerable to modern bottom trawling. Like their tropical counterparts, cold-water corals are home to thousands of other species, in particular animals like sponges, polychaete, crustaceans, molluscs, echinoderms, and fish. Although corals are generally associated with hard substrates at depths below 200m, they have been recorded growing on oil and gas structures in the North Sea at approximately 70 m depth and fishing records from different regions suggest coral and sponge bycatch is not uncommon (Shester and Ayers, 2005).

What impact FOW sites may have on cold water coral restoration is highly uncertain, but it is reasonable to suggest that the benthic and dynamic FOW structures could be settled by coral larvae and encourage colonies to grow (Roberts, 2000) (See section 4.4 for this topic). Sponges are important reef building organisms, a wide range of species are found from the sub-tidal to the abyssal and they can form substantial long-lived reefs on soft mud, sand, and gravel benthos (Maldonado et al., 2017). They can filter large quantities of water, removing bacteria and particulate organic matter, and are integral to biogeochemical cycles, storing nitrogen, carbon etc, and providing a complex habitat and foraging opportunities for other taxa (Maldonado et al., 2017). Similarly, sea pens are found from the intertidal to the abyssal and are particularly adaptable, finding purchase in homogenous soft sediments such as mud, sand, fine rubble, or abyssal ooze (Williams, 2011). Their ability to form dense sea pen fields in these habitat types makes them unusual, as most other reef builder require some hard substrate to thrive.



Figure 3. Biogenic reef building organisms: (A) Lophelia pertusa at 450 m in Viocsa knoll, with orange backet star. (B) L. pertusa thicket on upper slope, Gulf of Mexico, with galatheid crabs, sea urchins, and sea lilies. (C) Kidney sea pens Carcopyilus grandis. (D) Sea pen field in the Laurentian Channel MPA. (E) Sponge, Southeast U.S. shelf/slope region. (F) Sponge community on circalittoral shelf, UK. These suspension feeders can alter flow, enhance the retention of nutrients, stabilize the substrate, and create a complex habitat for other species including some commercial fish species (Miatta and Snelgrove, 2022).

## 5.1.3 Benthic ecosystem recovery

The reported partial recovery time for some benthic fauna, e.g., cnidarians and sponges, after scallop dredging is greater than 2 years (Kaiser et al., 2006). This is consistent with a 2–5-year recovery time of biogenic fauna on the Georges Bank and in the Irish Sea after closing the scallop fisheries (Collie et al., 1997; Kaiser et al., 2006). Partial recovery post trawling can be rapid, although there is large uncertainty over the time needed for a full recovery, or indeed if some systems can ever recover fully. Areas closed to fishing are relatively uncommon and in fact most MPAs allow fishing, nonetheless, there is growing evidence suggesting that closures have positive ecosystem effects. Closed areas off Cornwall supported a greater abundance of sedentary large slow growing fauna (pink sea fans and branching sponges) compared with actively trawled areas (Pikesley et al., 2021). Similarly, an area (>200 km2) closure in Lyme Bay, off Plymouth, resulted in positive changes in species richness and the total abundance of 13 important taxa, including definite evidence of a recovery in three indicator species (Pentapora fascialis, Phallusia mammillata and Pecten maximus) (Sheehan et al., 2013). Even the closure of relatively small areas can have a positive effect: a 2 km2 area in an intensively trawled (for scallops) part of the Irish Sea allowed the scallop population to recover to some extent, although after 5 years it was clear that it would take longer to reach a normal population structure (Bradshaw et al., 2001). Bradshaw et al. (2001) suggested that for sedentary fauna with planktonic larvae, protected areas would be beneficial. The studies cited here are to some extent fisheries centric and looking to the broader MPA literature reveals the broader ecosystem benefits through area protection.

## **5.2 Ecosystem Benefits of Area Protection**

Marine protected areas positively impact diversity, abundance, organism size, and abundance compared with surrounding unprotected areas, even when protected areas were relatively small (Lester and Halpern, 2008; Toonen et al., 2013; Turnbull et al., 2021). The positive effects are highly dependent on habitat type, location, levels of allowed anthropogenic activity, and the duration of protection, with size, age, and level of protection being the most important factors (Edgar et al., 2014; Lester and Halpern,

2008; Sala and Giakoumi, 2018; Toonen et al., 2013; Turnbull et al., 2021). Where some level of extraction is allowed, i.e., partial protection, outcomes are far more variable with some studies indicating some benefit (Lester and Halpern, 2008), whereas others demonstrate no increase in fish diversity or biomass compared with fully open areas (Edgar et al., 2014; Turnbull et al., 2021). From a review of 87 MPAs globally, Edgar et al. (2014) described five key features which increased MPA efficacy; 1. no take, 2. Enforcement, 3. More than 10 years old, 4. More than 100 km2, and 5. Isolated by deep water or sand. Fully protected small island MPAs were the most successful (Edgar et al., 2014). One may well question the relevance to FOW developments situated over homogenous sea-floor habitats, however, Edgar et al. (2014) did statistically control for the island effect and the presence of multiple large floating platforms, and their artificial reefs may well be analogous to some small island reef characteristics. Most notably, when three or less of the key criteria were present, ecosystem benefits diminished. When three or more criteria were present, benefits were statistically significant. Similarly, Sala and Giakoumi, (2018) carried out a meta-analysis showing that fully protected reserves increase fish assemblage biomass by 670%, while partially protected areas increase fish assemblage biomass by 343% - though often not statistically different to unprotected areas. A large proportion of MPA studies are bias towards fish and vertebrate species, nonetheless, there is good evidence that protection also benefits crustacean species. Full area protection, with restocking, allowed European spiny lobster to increase in abundance in just 2 years in Sardinian waters (Cau et al., 2019). Off California, 6 years of protection at the Santa Barbara Channel Islands lead to a 4-8-fold increase in abundance and a 5-10% increase in carapace length for lobsters (Kay et al., 2012).

#### 5.3 Ecosystem Benefits - Fixed Bottom Offshore Wind Farms

It is difficult to speculate on what these studies can tell us about the likely high level of protection that will be in place around an operational FOW farm. Many MPA studies investigate feature specific protected areas associated with an island, a reef, and some valued benthic habitat. Studies on existing fixed bottom wind farms may be more revealing, although these are not deeper than 30 m and therefore there are ecological and physical difference between current fixed and planned FOW sites. Since 2005, monitoring at a Belgian OWF has revealed substantial reefs effects and a refugium effect, although the fish assemblage did not change significantly due to the wind farm

(De Backer et al., 2020). The reef effect was very pronounced and many reef associated species (inc. mussels and brown crab) present after installation of the turbines were not present preconstruction. One fish species, sea bass, was only found after installation (De Backer et al., 2020), suggesting these new reef habitats have attracted at least one new species to the area. These results are broadly similar to other studies showing little change in highly mobile fish species and significant change in reef associated species (Bergström et al., 2013; Krone et al., 2017; Vandendriessche et al., 2015). Notably, natural spatial and temporal variation in the epibenthic and fish assemblages was greater than any turbine/foundation effect – analysis indicated that seasonality, climate indices and substrate type influence fish populations (De Backer et al., 2020). Although no large-scale changes in fish populations are evident, demersal, and pelagic fish do utilise artificial reefs at OWFs (Mavraki et al., 2020).

## 5.4 Local, Regional, and Cumulative Effects

Protected areas will not only confer some level of protection to a particular area but may work as a network if there are several or many such protected areas connected by oceanographic currents. For example, off the south coast of Ireland, a seasonal coastal current flow around the periphery of the Celtic Sea and up the west coast. This feature will potentially connect FOW sites in the Celtic Sea with sites on the western shelf area.

## 5.4.1 Spill-over and larval subsidy

Spill over and larval subsidy are similar processes that refer to the export of adult and larval/juvenile fish and invertebrates from a protected area to the surrounding unprotected area (Cudney-Bueno et al., 2009; Gerber et al., 2005; Russ, 2002). The literature on this topic is extensive and spill over effects are demonstrated repeatedly, with increases in the size, maturity and abundance of reef associated fish and crustaceans (e.g., lobster) seen beyond MPA boundaries (Qu et al., 2021; Roberts et al., 2001). Qu et al. (2021) found that 10.6% of newly settled juvenile snapper recruits up to 55 km from an MPA were the offspring of snapper within the MPA. Positive effects can occur rapidly: a network of small marine reserves in Florida and St Lucia increased fish catches by 46 – 90% in adjacent areas after 5 years, with trophy fish caught up to 100 km from the Florida reserve (Roberts et al., 2001). Other species will need more time to generate a spillover effect, for example, after an 8 – 17-year period of protection at the Columbretes Islands Marine Reserve, there was positive migration of lobster from the MPA, and the net gain to the fishery in weight exceeded the losses from lost fishing area (Goñi et al., 2010). Goñi et al. (2010) noted that intense fishing effort along the MPA edge likely limited the spillover effect, and this 'fishing the line' behaviour has been demonstrated to negatively affect other species within the border zone of MPAs (Ohayon et al., 2021). The impact on non-reef associated species is not so unequivocal. Extensive monitoring studies in some North Sea OWFs suggests there is no significant difference between commercial fish communities inside and outside OWFs (Bergström et al., 2013; De Backer et al., 2020), which suggests spill over is unlikely, although longer periods of protection allied to benthic recovery may change this.

## 5.4.2 Displacement of fishing effort

A potential consequence of area closures and MPAs is the displacement of fishing effort as fisheries will seek to shift their fishing effort to other areas and/or other species to maintain their catches and income. Fishing the line, as described above, is an example of displacement. Experience to date, across many jurisdictions, suggests that displacement is hard to predict, with individual fisher experience, boat type, gear type, metocean conditions and bathymetry all influencing how and where fishing effort will be reallocated (Slijkerman and Tamis, 2015; Greenstreet et al., 2009; Dinmore et al., 2003). It is possible that area closures due to FOW developments could displace fishing effort into areas which were previously lightly fished or unfished, with negative implications for habitats and ecosystems, undermining any ecosystem benefits gained from the area closure (Greenstreet et al., 2009). The introduction of the "cod box" in 2001, to conserve cod during spawning season, displaced beam trawling effort with substantial damage to benthic communities that would take >10 years to recover (Dinmore et al., 2003). The greatest amount of damage from bottom trawling occurs during the initial effort (Jennings and Kaiser, 1998) and therefore, even short-term displacement can have long term ecosystem consequences. Situating FOW sites in lightly fished areas can mitigate negative ecosystem impacts by ensuring that displacement is minimised and where it does occur, fishing effort is displaced into already fished areas.

#### 5.4.3 Scale

In the context of protected areas, size is one of the most important criteria as the evidence shows that the larger MPAs are more effective and more cost effective to govern and monitor (Edgar et al., 2014; Toonen et al., 2013). In Europe, most MPAs are near the coast, typically feature, habitat or species specific, and generally small (5 - 30 km2) (Toonen et al., 2013). Proposed FOW farms will likely be greater than 100 km2 and a network of FOW farms, if managed as OECMs (see section 3), will considerably enhance Europe's protected area network. While the positive impact on benthic habitats is more certain (see section 3.1), the positive impact on demersal fish species many of which are migratory and commercially fished is less certain. High adult dispersal means area-based protection will be less effective, however, nursery areas where larval/juv nile dispersal, even of migratory species, is low could still confer some protection (Gerber et al., 2005; Murawski et al., 2000). Conversely, where there is long-distance larval dispersal, any positive effect will be hard to detect (Pelc et al., 2010). Large scale closures of the Georges bank ground fishery also demonstrate limited impact for migratory species, being most successful where a large proportion of the population was located inside the closed area year-round (Murawski et al., 2000). It's important to note that other fishery restrictions like reduced effort, catch limits, and gear selectivity were also deemed important contributors to the George's Bank management effects (Murawski et al., 2000). There is some evidence that some exploited fish populations in the Northeast Atlantic are recovering, due to a reduction in fishing effort since the early 2000s (Fernandes and Cook, 2013), therefore further area restrictions may enhance their recovery, although to what extent is difficult to predict. This being the case, the positive impact of FOW protected areas may be harder to detect, as they will operate in an already improving background. This should not detract from the likely ecosystem benefit of restoring natural benthic habitats and benthic-pelagic coupling across large areas of shelf habitat. Multiple large, protected areas across a contiguous shelf habitat are likely to have substantial cumulative effects in terms of biogeochemical cycling, with bottomup ecosystem benefits for benthic and pelagic species. It is important to bear in mind that continental shelf ecosystems may not recover to a previous state with a historic species assemblage. Recovery in the Clyde Sea has favoured smaller forge fish - crudely speaking, spratt have replaced herring since the late 1980s (Lawrence and Fernandes, 2021). It is very likely, there will be unforeseen consequences which will be difficult to predict.

# 6. Habitat Modification

## **6.1 Artificial Reefs**

The European artificial Reef Research Network (EARRN) defines an artificial reef as "a submerged structure placed on the substratum (seabed) deliberately, to mimic some characteristics of a natural reef" (Baine, 2001; Jensen, 2002). Artificial reefs can be made from natural or artificial materials and have historically been used to enhance fisheries, although in recent years they have been used for recreational diving, trawling prevention and conservation (Baine, 2001; Jensen, 2002). The development of a reef from a blank structure to a living ecosystem is complex and begins with biofouling, which starts immediately after a hard surface is placed in the marine environment (Callow and Callow, 2011). Any hard surface including concrete, glass, metal, and plastics will be fouled by a complex community of invertebrate species and algae, which in turn provide habitat and food for mobile invertebrates (e.g., crabs, sea stars) and vertebrate species including highly mobile megafauna (large fish, seabirds, marine mammals). The process of biofouling is complex, dependent on location, climate, exposure, depth, and season, resulting in great variation in both the initial and mature reef communities. There is substantial variation in reef communities between fixed bottom OWFs (De Backer et al., 2020; Zoë L. Hutchison et al., 2020; Mavraki et al., 2020), and also variation between fixed bottom turbines within the same site (Zoë L. Hutchison et al., 2020). Some variation is likely due to the "founder effect" which states that the initial settlers will have a competitive advantage and thus dominate the fouling community, although it is most likely that over time reef communities within an area of broadly shared characteristics will start to converge on similar communities, despite early differences. A subcategory of artificial reefs is Fish Aggregating Devices (FADs), which are buoyant floating structures.

## 6.1.1 Fish aggregating devices - FADs

Floating objects in the marine environment are known to attract fish and other large mobile animals, and although the reasons for this behaviour are poorly understood, predator avoidance, food availability, and social grouping are thought to be some of the behavioural drivers (Castro et al., 2002; Dempster and Taquet, 2004; Karama and Matsushita, 2019; Wilson et al., 2020). FADs come in many forms, from large buoys to small collections of plastic bottles (Yusfiandayani et al., 2014).

They are often intentionally deployed by small scale artisanal and large-scale pelagic fisheries in tropical and sub-tropical regions to increase the catch efficiency of commercially valuable fish species (Cabral et al., 2014; Guillotreau et al., 2011). Anecdotal observations suggest that sharks, turtle, and marine mammals are also attracted to much larger offshore structures (floating and fixed) and their presence is not always linked with foraging behaviour/opportunities; however, this also remains poorly understood (Todd et al., 2018).

### 6.2 Ecosystem Benefits of Artificial Reefs and Fish Aggregating Devices

Artificial reefs increase habitat complexity, which positively influences biodiversity by providing refugia, nursery grounds, enhanced larval settlement and this is particularly the case when structures are situated in homogenous habitats, e.g., sand and mud. FADs on the sea surface, although they are generally simpler structures, can have similar benefits by also introducing habitat complexity into an otherwise homogeneous pelagic environment (Blasi et al., 2016; Sasikumar et al., 2015; Taguet et al., 2007). Floating offshore turbines have the potential to act as both artificial reefs and FADs through the introduction of hard structures such as floating foundations, cables and mooring lines, and anchoring systems (see section 3). The type of community that colonises these surfaces will vary depending on the surface physio-chemical properties, depth, degree of motion, and current velocities (Callow and Callow, 2011; Karlsson et al., 2022; Perkol-Finkel et al., 2008; Todd et al., 2020). The degree to which FOW devices will act as FADs and artificial reefs is not well understood, however, recent surveys on the Hywind Scotland spar turbines recorded 121 species, from 11 phyla, including 48 epifouling and 73 mobile species (Karlsson et al., 2022). Notably, this included two species of cold corals, Desmophyllum pertusa and Lophelia pertusa, situated on a cable at 73.5 m depth. In general, epifaunal colonisation reached almost 100% coverage on all structures, although community composition on the turbines, moorings, anchors, and cables varied substantially, with distinct vertical zonation (Karlsson et al., 2022) (Figure 4). Painted sections on the Hywind turbines were different to unpainted, suggesting coating and particularly antifouling coatings will impact the epifouling community. This will favour some species, like mussels and hydroids, which can tolerate high levels of toxicity. These results suggest that FOW infrastructure can foster artificial reefs and have a substantial positive effect on biodiversity, although uncertainly remains over different devices and technologies in different locations. There is a comprehensive body of literature in relation to existing offshore structures from which one can draw further inferences on potential ecosystem benefits.

### 6.2.1 Artificial reefs on oil and gas platforms

Oil and gas platforms are among the most productive marine fish habitats, comparable with designed reef habitats (Smith et al., 2016). Locally, platforms benefit both demersal and pelagic fish by acting as an artificial reef, leading to higher fish abundances, diversity, and creation of additional hard structure from shell mounds (Fabi et al., 2004; Love and York, 2006; Schroeder and Love, 2004). Fish rapidly colonise new structures: in the North Sea, a new platform was surveyed pre and post installation and within 4 days, fish diversity and biomass has increased (Todd et al., 2020). Platforms also increase recruitment of demersal fish species like rockfish, by acting as a nursery and refugia (Snodgrass et al., 2020). Although, localised reef populations are usually the beneficiaries of platforms, multiple platforms over a wide area can lead to regional benefits for fish populations (Fabi et al., 2004). For example, platforms off the coast of California are estimated to contribute over 90% of the total fish biomass and annual somatic production for the region (Meyer-Gutbrod et al., 2020). Oil and gas platforms host diverse invertebrate communities, which vary substantially between locations and between adjacent platforms, and invariably have distinct vertical zonation (Forteath et al., 1982; Love et al., 2019; Todd et al., 2018). Mussels, barnacles, cnidarians (inc. hydroids and anemones), bryozoans, sponges, macro algae and polychaete worms are some of the main taxa found on structures (Page et al., 2008; Todd et al., 2018). In the North Sea, mussels and algae dominated a natural gas platform above 10m depth, encrusting bryozoans increased dramatically from 10-15m, and anemones dominated below 15m with an increase in barnacles at 45-50m (Todd et al., 2018). The cold-water corals Lophelia pertusa were found on submarine cables, shipwrecks, the Brent Spar buoy, and Beryl Alpha SPM2. On the Brent Spar L. pertusa was found, during ROV surveys, on single point mooring, at >70 m depth, which was below the seasonal thermocline, growing an estimated 5 mm annualy (Roberts, 2002). Roberts (2002) suggested that the platforms provided a refuge for this species that was no longer present in the North Sea. It is reasonable to suggest that any area with an Atlantic influence and a suitable hard structure below the thermocline may be a suitable substrate for Lophelia pertusa (Roberts, 2002). The ecosystem benefits of L. pertusa, a protected reef building species, are discussed in the previous section (4.1.2).



Figure 4. Example of epifouling colonisation on turbine substructures. (a) Spirobranchus sp. and M. senile at the bottom of the HS03 substructure. (b) Substructure HS02, with Mytilus spp., Laminaria sp. and potential amphipod tubes at 3 m depth. (c) Substructure HS04, with grazing sea urchins and biofilm at 11 m depth. (d) Substructure HS01, with nudibranchs (A. papillosa) and barnacles (Balanoidea) at 48 m depth. Scale bar: 10 cm. Image and text is taken from (Karlsson et al., 2022).

## 6.2.2 Artificial reefs and offshore wind farms

Like oil/gas platforms, offshore marine renewable energy devices also function as artificial reefs (Ashley et al., 2014; Dannheim et al., 2020; Wilhelmsson et al., 2006). Offshore wind farms and tidal energy devices have been shown to have higher biodiversity compared to sandy bottoms in the surrounding area (Broadhurst et al., 2014). Both sessile and mobile invertebrate species colonize MRE device structures. Crustaceans and mussels were the most abundant organisms on the monopiles of wind turbines with mussel growth leading to local enrichment of organic material and formation of mussel beds on the seafloor (Langhamer, 2016; Wilhelmsson et al., 2006). Prey species such as brown crabs and brown shrimp demonstrated increased abundance across multiple studies (Ashley et al., 2014). Colonization by sessile invertebrates (e.g., mussels, anemones) creates a more complex habitat and may provide a food source for large fish species. Fish assemblages surrounding MREs are diverse, but large, commercially viable fish are less abundant. A meta-analysis of 31 studies related to wind farms, revealed small positive effects for commercially important cod and gadoids but mostly positive effects for small fish like wrasse (Ashley et al., 2014). Similarly, in the Strait of Kilamar, juvenile gobies made up 99.7% of fish captured around wind turbines with abundance and diversity significantly different from sandy bottoms (Wilhelmsson et al., 2006). In the North Sea, the pelagic mackerel and horse mackerel were found in close proximity to wind farms at high densities (Mavraki et al., 2021). Horse mackerel were recorded feeding on epibenthic invertebrates colonizing wind farm structures.

## **6.2.3 Floating aggregating devices**

FADs attract a diverse range of species, including fish, sharks, reptile, marine mammals, and turtles (Snodgrass et al., 2020; Todd et al., 2016). Castro et al. (2002) divided FAD associated fish into two groups: large adult pelagic fish which are transient visitors to FADs, and post-larval and juvenile fish that live beneath a FAD until they are large enough to leave the refuge provided by the FAD. Proximity to the FAD is dependent on species and life stage: small, younger coastal and pelagic fish aggregate at shallower depths, closer to the FADs, compared to larger, older fish which seem to have a loser association with FADs (Josse et al., 2000; Sinopoli et al., 2011). Small fish seem to use FADs strictly for predator avoidance, while there is some evidence that larger individuals feed on aggregating prey items (Deudero and Morales-Nin, 2001; Malone et al., 2011). Fish species may also exhibit asymmetrical distribution at FADs as a result of social interaction (Robert et al., 2013; Sempo et al., 2013). Fish aggregations can be diverse, with FAD aggregations off the coast of Panama including 16 families of both pelagic and structure associated species, including shark species (Pinnix et al., 2013). Behaviour at FADs can be complex: silky sharks in the Indian Ocean stayed near FADs for extended periods of time (days to weeks), staying close during the day and leaving the FAD at night, most likely to forage, before returning again (Filmalter et al., 2015). Other FAD associated behaviours are very specific, for example, cuttlefish in the Arabian Sea attach their eggs to FADs (Sasikumar et al., 2015). Loggerhead turtles are attracted to FADs in the Mediterranean as they can be a source of food, i.e., alga and invertebrate species (Blasi et al., 2016).

## 6.3 Local, Regional, and Cumulative Effects

It is generally accepted that artificial reefs of all types can have pronounced local effects, increasing biodiversity and biomass across taxonomic groups, although, the weight of published evidence is heavily biased towards fish species, and particularly fish species of commercial or recreational importance. Reefs in protected areas provide clear benefits for reef associated species which include egg, larval and adult spillover into local surrounding areas, possibly 10s - 100 km away. Artificial reefs on O&G structures may assist the recovery of some fish stocks through sitespecific protection and enhanced productivity leading to some spillover effect (Love and York, 2006; Streich et al., 2017). How important this spillover is in terms of local or regional population increases remains uncertain and centres around the 'production Vs attraction' debate (Bohnsack, 1989), and whether regional biomass would be significantly lower if structures were removed (Claisse et al., 2014; McLean et al., 2022; Wu et al., 2019). There is evidence that at least some fish (cod and lumpsucker) and one invertebrate a species (whelks) does appear to gain a reproductive benefit due to a platform in the North Sea (Todd et al., 2018). In terms of genetic diversity, oil and gas platforms appear to be less beneficial, with invertebrate genetic diversity in O&G populations representing a small subset of wider natural populations (Atchison et al., 2008; Fauvelot et al., 2012, 2009; Sammarco et al., 2012). This loss of genetic diversity may be due to the founder effect when a small new number of individuals establishes a new population and suggests that these artificial communities should perhaps not be considered analogous to natural reef communities.

Evidence on the impact of O&G structures on highly migratory fish species is very limited (McLean et al., 2022; Snodgrass et al., 2020; Todd et al., 2016). Although there is a reasonable amount of anecdotal evidence suggesting many different species spend time in the vicinity of large structures, the nature of, and duration of, their interaction with structures remains poorly understood (Snodgrass et al., 2020). It is often suggested that they present a foraging opportunity, however, large predatory fish do not seem to use FADs for foraging (Karama and Matsushita, 2019). Because FOW platforms will be numerous, there may well be a cumulative increase in the productivity of some migratory species, but this will depend on the spatial overlap between the infrastructure and species distribution, which will be species specific. The semi-permanent (25+ years) nature of FOW infrastructure means some species may adapt to its presence, using them as navigation waypoints and possibly for seasonal residency: some tuna can be semi-resident at mesoscale geographic features (Snodgrass et al., 2020). There are likely to be important links between the artificial reef effect and the 'wake effect' (see section 6). The wake effect may extend the area of influence of FOW infrastructure or amplify the attraction for migratory species by creating ocean hotspots of productivity. There is no published evidence on this topic – most literature on the wake effect of FOW is modelling or remote sensing studies with no biological component.

# 7. Wake Effects

In the context of FOW and existing fixed bottom OWFs, there are two main mechanisms that will create a wake in the lee of a wind farm. 1) Current flows flowing around infrastructure will create a wake effect, and 2) wind flow over and around an array of turbines will create a wind shear that can generate vertical rotation in the water column, i.e., upwelling and downwelling (Ludewig, 2015). Current flows will create variable flows around individual pieces of infrastructure, with individual wakes, increased vertical mixing, potentially scour around benthic structures, and resuspension of sediments, i.e., increased turbidity (Lange et al., 2010; Ludewig, 2015). Wake turbulence driven by wind shear is a cumulative effect of the entire turbine array and will create upwelling and downwelling on the downstream side (leeward side) of the wind farm (Ludewig, 2015). Predicting the impact of an FOW farm wake on the marine environment is difficult at this time and likely will only become possible once large FOW arrays are in place. There is comprehensive body of literature based on laboratory and modelling studies which suggest that the ecosystem impact of fixed bottom OWF or floating MRE devices will be relatively small (Carpenter et al., 2016; Cazenave et al., 2016; Copping et al., 2016; Farr et al., 2021; Lass et al., 2008).

#### 7.1 Ecosystem Benefits of The Wake Effect

All marine organisms regardless of size are influenced by natural heterogeneity in the marine environment. Primary productivity (i.e., phytoplankton growth) is often higher at mesoscale ocean features like eddies, fronts, or indeed any sharp physical gradient where vertical mixing can occur (Benoit-Bird et al., 2019; Chang et al., 2013; McGillicuddy, 2016; Simpson et al., 1979). Large mobile fauna are known to preferentially forage at these oceanic 'biodiversity hotspots' and may gain an energetic advantage by doing

so (Abrahms et al., 2018; Cox et al., 2018; Hays et al., 2016; Lieber et al., 2019). Small islands also create a wake or turbulent flow called the 'island mass effect' and this can create both enhanced primary productivity and enhanced foraging opportunities for larger mobile species (Chang et al., 2013; Doty and Oguri, 1956; Genin, 2004). Three processes lead to enhanced primary productivity: 1) phytoplankton from deeper water are brought to the surface, i.e., passive advection, 2) upwelled nutrient supply simulates phytoplankton growth, sometimes a bloom, in the surface waters. The bloom can lag the nutrient input by weeks with peak growth appearing some distance downstream (possibly 100s km) of the island, and 3) a weaker boom immediately in the lee of the island (Hasegawa et al., 2009; Messié et al., 2020). For planktivorous fish and larger predatory species, the turbulence and differential flows aggregate prey and creates areas of low current speed where animals can rest (Genin, 2004). Modelling suggests that large FOW farms will, through the wind shear effect, create relatively large upwelling and downwelling zone that could deform the pycnocline and enhance vertical mixing downstream of the farm (Ludewig, 2015). Enhanced vertical mixing, bringing cooler nutrient rich water to the surface can enhance primary productivity, with positive implications for other higher trophic levels (Broström, 2008; Hasegawa et al., 2009). This type of upwelling and the associated bottom-up influence on the foodweb is well studied in coastal regions and along sea ice margins, and the impact on phytoplankton can be rapid, with the upwelled nutrients (nitrates and ammonia) being consumed within days (Dugdale et al., 2006). Therefore, there is a possibility of creating permanent hotspots for primary production and thus enhanced opportunities for lower trophic levels e.g., copepods. Weather and tidal changes will likely drive short duration changes in the upwelling intensity and it is clear that certain swarming zooplankton do respond rapidly to such changes by intensifying and relaxing swarm densities (Benoit-Bird et al., 2019). Changing spatial distribution of zooplankton prey will also influence the distribution of higher trophic predators (e.g., jellyfish, sea birds and fish) and therefore rapid changes in primary productivity can spread from the bottom up through the entire food web. Seabirds foraging in the wake of a tidal turbine at Strangford Lough showed a demonstrable preference for the wake zone, most likely because prey were made more available in the turbulent water, rather than more abundant (Lieber et al., 2019). Other natural tidal streams generated by topographic features are also recognised as foraging hotspots for sea birds and marine mammals, driven by prey availability and enhanced abundance (Benjamins et al., 2015. Cox et al. (2018) compile a comprehensive list of features which can create discrete oceanographic turbulent zones and some including headlands and small islands are similar in scale, and sometime much smaller, than proposed FOW developments.

## 7.2 Local, Regional, and Cumulative Effects

An assessment of a fixed bottom OWF off Germany, using hydrodynamic modelling, demonstrated no major impact of a monopile turbine on turbidity, nor was there a cumulative effect of multiple monopiles found (Lange et al., 2010). Evidence for the extent of oceanographic wake effects and turbulence created by OWFs is guite variable. Some modelling exercises have found that large OWFs may create large wake effects including eddy formations lasting several days (Paskyabi and Fer, 2012), with others indicating that wake effects will extend 100 km in the lee of an OWF and upwelling and downwelling cells will approach 15 km in size (Ludewig, 2015). In contrast, other modelling work on monopiles indicates a very limited wake and eddy formation, not more than 10 times the monopile diameter, and not extending far in the lee of the pile (Lass et al., 2008; Rennau et al., 2012). Where models have investigated large scale OWFs, they do demonstrate slowing current velocity and increasing vertical mixing, which could possibly disrupt seasonal stratification if OWFs become more extensive than at present (Carpenter et al., 2016; Cazenave et al., 2016). The ecosystems effects of these oceanographic changes are very uncertain at present, however, changes to stratification and vertical mixing can influence primary productivity. Enhanced vertical mixing can stimulate primary production, but if turbulence increases turbidity, light penetration is reduced, thus reducing primary productivity.

Increased turbidity is a recognised as a pressing ecological issue in recent years (Blain et al., 2021; Herbert-Read et al., 2022). Increasing wave energy, land use, and coastal eutrophication are causing increased turbidity in coastal regions globally and this has negative implications for fundamental ecological processes such as primary productivity and biogeochemical cycling. In the context of FOW developments, a large-scale reduction in bottom trawling will most likely reduce turbidity as trawling re-suspends sediment and organic matter (Linders et al., 2018). Conversely, increased vertical mixing and upwelling because of multiple large FOW farms may increase turbidity, however, this is purely speculative at this time.

# 8. Concluding Remarks and Recommendations

The current weight of evidence indicates that offshore renewable energy, either fixed or floating, will have limited negative impacts on the environment (Hammar et al., 2016; Inger et al., 2009; Wilson et al., 2010). The most likely ecosystem benefits will accrue because of area protection in combination with the artificial reef (and FAD) effect. There are possible positives and negatives associated with any oceanographic wake effect and the scale and magnitude of these is uncertain at present.

Area protection results in important ecosystem benefits which are positively associated with increasing levels of protection, i.e., complete protection from human exploitation achieves the best conservation outcomes. Industrial fishing methods, particularly bottom trawling, driven by societal demand have resulted in severe damage to benthic and pelagic ecosystems. Restricting or closing FOW developments to these activities can lead to habitat restoration, increased biodiversity, abundance, and biomass of many species, although it is important to consider and plan for the unintended negative consequences of fisheries displacement. Area closures are likely to be unpalatable and disruptive to some sectors within the fishing industry, however, there is robust evidence that area closures can result in significant gains for commercial fishing, if managed well within a coherent MSP framework. Benthic habitat recovery can take several years, but as infaunal and epifaunal communities recover, habitat complexity is restored, and this encourages recruitment of other algae, invertebrate and vertebrate species. Some animal groups have particular significance – these ecosystem engineers further enhance the organic structural heterogeneity of the benthic habitat, creating living reef systems that encourage very high levels of biodiversity compared with homogeneous benthic habitats. Some of these reef builders may also occur on subsurface FOW structures, e.g., cables and mooring lines. Furthermore, the restoration of a diverse complex benthic habitat will enhance nutrient flux across the sediment-water interface, transferring more carbon into organic biomass and sequestering more carbon into the sediment.

The surface and subsurface hard structures associated with FOW will create habitat complexity that increases the biodiversity, abundance, and biomass of invertebrate and vertebrate species, i.e., the reef effect. This will occur on floating, mid-water and benthic structures, resulting in different reef habitats with distinct vertical zonation and distinct species assemblages. Artificial reefs will most likely benefit associated species with restricted home ranges, i.e., non-migratory species. Large migratory species will almost certainly use the structures for navigation, resting, foraging, and socialising, although for many taxa these behaviours are poorly understood and thus any ecosystem benefit remains poorly understood.

Large FOW farms will almost certainly create a wake and change local oceanography to some extent. The increased turbulence (upwelling and downwelling) driven by wind and currents flowing around multiple turbines is likely to create localised changes in primary productivity and aggregate zooplankton prey species. These bottom-up changes in the foodweb, in turn, create new opportunities small zooplanktivorous fish and larger mobile predators. Natural features of a similar scale create oceanographic features that are recognised as diversity hotspots and can provide enhanced foraging for some large mobile species. The scale of FOW created wakes remains uncertain, and the ecosystem benefit is likely to depend on location, season and vary significantly across different species.

## 8.1 Knowledge Gaps

Large knowledge gaps exist across the entire domain of environmental impacts resulting from ORE, particularly for FOW, but also for fixed bottom OWFs and floating or fixed MRE devices. Considering how rapidly the industry is expanding (Global Wind Energy Council, 2022), research and monitoring efforts must scale up accordingly and future research should be coordinated across state borders and fully embrace an ecosystem-based approach (Dannheim et al., 2020).

Current monitoring and research programmes are generally focused on four receptors: marine mammals, sea birds, fish, and benthic habitats and therefore lack a holistic ecosystem-based approach (Dannheim et al., 2020; Maclean et al., 2014; Wilding et al., 2017). Furthermore, the targeted, time limited monitoring and sampling of single licensed areas is often not relevant to the spatial or temporal scale at which many ecosystem processes and functions occur, and therefore are unable to detect ecosystem level changes, positive or negative (Wilding et al., 2017). Ambiguities in the legislation and a lack of guidance on how legislation should be implemented means that determining the significance of ecosystem impacts may be flawed (Maclean et al., 2014; Willsteed et al., 2017). Wilding et al. (2017) argue that current benthic monitoring is often costly, does not capture ecosystem changes at relevant scales and has resulted in stakeholders being "data rich, information poor" (DRIP), meaning meaning unacceptable levels of ecosystem change are not detected (Wilding et al., 2017). Robust detection and understanding of relevant ecosystem changes because of ORE expansion demands a more holistic scientific approach, at different ecologically relevant scales (Dannheim et al., 2020; Wilding et al., 2017; Willsteed et al., 2017).

Recommendations to enhance monitoring include: 1) begin with a clear objectives metrics and clearly defined spatial/temporal domains, 2) have pre-defined thresholds of unacceptable change, 3) metrics, thresholds, and confidence in chosen methods should be agreed with relevant stakeholders before sampling begins (Wilding et al., 2017). Detailed knowledge of the natural spatial/temporal variability of benthic ecosystems is currently lacking and collaboration between projects and research groups/institutions could broaden the scope of knowledge acquisition, improving the ability to detect large scale ecosystem changes (Dannheim et al., 2020). Equally important, is the need for targeted field studies on ecologies processes at smaller local scales (Dannheim et al., 2020).

## 8.2 Future Research

Despite a robust body of evidence demonstrating the potential ecosystem benefits of artificial reefs, including around OWFs, it is not included in EIAs and does not appear to be a major consideration in the ORE industry (Petersen and Malm, 2006). It is worth considering, should FOW be designed and managed to enhance the reef effect and promote ecosystem recovery (Inger et al., 2009)? To enable this proactive approach, existing infrastructure must be studied in greater detail, e.g., (Karlsson et al., 2022), producing information that can feed back into FOW design and installation, and be used to model the cumulative impacts of an expanded industry (Inger et al., 2009; Petersen and Malm, 2006). The shape, complexity, surface texture, and distance between structures are important factors that influence reef development (Petersen and Malm, 2006). While manipulating these elements on floating structures might be difficult, creating diverse additional anchoring structures, or possibly simply adding additional structures with no anchoring function, would seem to be a distinct possibility. Adopting this strategy requires more research on artificial reefs at depths above 60 m, research on the connectivity between reefs for different species, and research on how the increased biomass and biodiversity will impact ecosystems at the local and regional scales.

In terms of larger mobile species, e.g., tuna, a focus on single structures in the past means there is no clear understanding how these often-migratory animals will be impacted by multiple arrays of large floating structures (McLean et al., 2022). A poor ecological understanding of many large species, particularly those not protected by legislation, e.g., elasmobranchs (sharks), will hamper any efforts to understand potential population changes due to FOW developments. Research to develop a better understanding of the population structure, distribution, foraging behaviour, breeding behaviour, and migration patterns is urgently needed: field studies using biotelemetry, molecular and modelling techniques would help resolve some of these knowledge gaps. In terms of oceanographic changes and the wake effect, all the same techniques are relevant in seeking to understand how animals/ecosystems are influenced by the creation of permanent features in the pelagic ecosystem.

To fully understand the impact of FOW on marine ecosystems, research priorities need to switch from a narrow taxonomic focus and take a holistic ecosystem-based approach that can develop our understanding of functional marine ecology. Monitoring and research must begin to take account of habitats and species that are not limited by national boundaries, or indeed by the boundaries of a single FOW development. The ecosystem impacts of multiple FOW developments across large continental shelf regions remain highly uncertain and research priorities need to address cumulative spatial and temporal impacts at the population level of potentially impacted species. Achieving these goals will require greater collaboration at sectoral, regional, and international levels, working towards shared standards of data collection and analysis, and adapting the current regulatory approach to ensure ecosystem benefits can be detected in a cost-effective manner.

## References

- Abrahms, B., Scales, K.L., Hazen, E.L., Bograd, S.J., Schick, R.S., Robinson, P.W., Costa, D.P., 2018. Mesoscale activity facilitates energy gain in a top predator. Proc. R. Soc. B 285, 20181101.
- Adams, J., Kelsey, E.C., Felis, J.J., Pereksta, D.M., 2016. Collision and displacement vulnerability among marine birds of the California Current System associated with offshore wind energy infrastructure (No. 2016–1154), Open-File Report. U.S. Geological Survey. https://doi.org/10.3133/ofr20161154
- Ainley, D.G., PORZIG, E., ZAJANC, D., SPEAR, L.B., 2015. Seabird flight behavior and height in response to altered wind strength and direction. Mar. Ornithol. 43, 25–36.
- Appeltans, W., Ahyong, S.T., Anderson, G., Angel, M.V., Artois, T., Bailly, N., Bamber, R., Barber, A., Bartsch, I., Berta, A., Błażewicz-Paszkowycz, M., Bock, P., Boxshall, G., Boyko, C.B., Brandão, S.N., Bray, R.A., Bruce, N.L., Cairns, S.D., Chan, T.-Y., Cheng, L., Collins, A.G., Cribb, T., Curini-Gal letti, M., Dahdouh-Guebas, F., Davie, P.J.F., Dawson, M.N., De Clerck, O., Decock, W., De Grave, S., de Voogd, N.J., Domning, D.P., Emig, C.C., Erséus, C., Eschmeyer, W., Fauchald, K., Fautin, D.G., Feist, S.W., Fransen, C.H.J.M., Furuya, H., Garcia-Alvarez, O., Gerken, S., Gibson, D., Gittenberger, A., Gofas, S., Gómez-Daglio, L., Gordon, D.P., Guiry, M.D., Hernandez, F., Hoeksema, B.W., Hopcroft, R.R., Jaume, D., Kirk, P., Koedam, N., Koenemann, S., Kolb, J.B., Kristensen, R.M., Kroh, A., Lambert, G., Lazarus, D.B., Lemaitre, R., Longshaw, M., Lowry, J., Macpherson, E., Madin, L.P., Mah, C., Mapstone, G., McLaughlin, P.A., Mees, J., Meland, K., Messing, C.G., Mills, C.E., Molodtsova, T.N., Mooi, R., Neuhaus, B., Ng, P.K.L., Nielsen, C., Norenburg, J., Opresko, D.M., Osawa, M., Paulay, G., Perrin, W., Pilger, J.F., Poore, G.C.B., Pugh, P., Read, G.B., Reimer, J.D., Rius, M., Rocha, R.M., Saiz-Salinas, J.I., Scarabino, V., Schierwater, B., Schmidt-Rhaesa, A., Schnabel, K.E., Schotte, M., Schuchert, P., Schwabe, E., Segers, H., Self-Sullivan, C., Shenkar, N., Siegel, V., Sterrer, W., Stöhr, S., Swalla, B., Tasker, M.L., Thuesen, E.V., Timm, T., Todaro, M.A., Turon, X., Tyler, S., Uetz, P., van der Land, J., Vanhoorne, B., van Ofwegen, L.P., van Soest, R.W.M., Vanaverbeke, J., Walker-Smith, G., Walter, T.C., Warren, A., Williams, G.C., Wilson, S.P., Costello, M.J., 2012. The Magnitudeof Global Marine Species Diversity. Curr. Biol. 22, 2189–2202. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2012.09.036
- Ashley, M.C., Mangi, S.C., Rodwell, L.D., 2014. The potential of offshore windfarms to act as marine protected areas – A systematic review of current evidence. Mar. Policy 45, 301– 309. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.MARPOL.2013.09.002
- Atchison, A.D., Sammarco, P.W., Brazeau, D.A., 2008. Genetic Connectivity in Corals on the Flower Garden Banks and Surrounding Oil/Gas Platforms, Gulf of Mexico. J. Exp. Mar. Biol. Ecol. 365, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jembe.2008.07.002
- Bailey, H., Brookes, K.L., Thompson, P.M., 2014. Assessing environmental impacts of offshore wind farms: lessons learned and recommendations for the future. Aquat. Biosyst. 10, 1–13.

- Baine, M., 2001. Artificial reefs: a review of their design, application, management and performance. Ocean Coast. Manag. 44, 241–259. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0964- 5691(01)00048-5
- Bednar-Friedl, B., Biesbroek, R., Schmidt, D.N., 2022. IPCC Sixth Assessment Report (AR6): Climate Change 2022-Impacts, Adaptation and Vulnerability: Regional Factsheet Europe.
- Benjamins, S., Dale, A.C., Hastie, G., Waggitt, J.J., Lea, M.-A., Scott, B., Wilson, B., 2015. Confusion reigns? A review of marine megafauna interactions with tidal-stream environments. Oceanogr. Mar. Biol. 53, 1–54.
- Benjamins, S., Harnois, V., Smith, H., Johanning, L., Greenhill, L., Carter, C., Wilson, B., 2014. Understanding the Potential for Marine Megafauna Entanglement Risk from Marine Renewable Energy Developments [Presentation] | Tethys.
- Benoit-Bird, Kelly.J., Waluk, Chad.M., Ryan, J.P., 2019. Forage Species Swarm in Response to Coastal Upwelling. Geophys. Res. Lett. 46, 1537–1546. https://doi.org/10.1029/2018GL081603
- Bergström, L., Sundqvist, F., Bergström, U., 2013. Effects of an offshore wind farm on temporal and spatial patterns in the demersal fish community. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 485, 199–210. https://doi.org/10.3354/meps10344
- Blain, C.O., Hansen, S.C., Shears, N.T., 2021. Coastal darkening substantially limits the contribution of kelp to coastal carbon cycles. Glob. Change Biol. 27, 5547–5563. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.15837
- Blasi, M.F., Roscioni, F., Mattei, D., 2016. Interaction of Loggerhead Turtles (Caretta caretta) with traditional fish aggregating devices (FADs) in the Mediterranean Sea. Herpetol. Conserv. Biol. 11, 386–401.
- Boehlert, G.W., Gill, A.B., 2010. Environmental and ecological effects of ocean renewable energy development: a current synthesis. Oceanography 23, 68–81.
- Bohnsack, J.A., 1989. Are high densities of fishes at artificial reefs the result of habitat limitation or behavioral preference? Bull. Mar. Sci. 44, 631–645.
- Bradshaw, C., Veale, L.O., Hill, A.S., Brand, A.R., 2001. The effect of scallop dredging on Irish Sea benthos: experiments using a closed area, in: Burnell, G. (Ed.), Coastal Shellfish A Sustainable Resource: Proceedings of the Third International Conference on Shellfish Restoration, Held in Cork, Ireland, 28 September–2 October 1999, Developments in Hydrobiology. Springer Netherlands, Dordrecht, pp. 129–138. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-010-0434-3\_13
- Breton, S.-P., Moe, G., 2009. Status, plans and technologies for offshore wind turbines in Europe and North America. Renew. Energy 34, 646–654. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.renene.2008.05.040
- Broadhurst, M., Barr, S., Orme, C.D.L., 2014. In-situ ecological interactions with a deployed tidal energy device; an observational pilot study. Ocean Coast. Manag. 99, 31–38. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.OCECOAMAN.2014.06.008
- Broström, G., 2008. On the influence of large wind farms on the upper ocean circulation. J. Mar. Syst. 74, 585–591. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmarsys.2008.05.001

- Cabral, R.B., Aliño, P.M., Lim, M.T., 2014. Modelling the impacts of fish aggregating devices (FADs) and fish enhancing devices (FEDs) and their implications for managing small-scale fishery. ICES J. Mar. Sci. 71, 1750–1759. https://doi.org/10.1093/ICESJMS/FST229
- Callow, J.A., Callow, M.E., 2011. Trends in the development of environmentally friendly foulingresistant marine coatings. Nat. Commun. 2, 1–10.
- Carpenter, J.R., Merckelbach, L., Callies, U., Clark, S., Gaslikova, L., Baschek, B., 2016. Potential Impacts of Offshore Wind Farms on North Sea Stratification. PLOS ONE 11, e0160830. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0160830
- Castro, J.J., Santiago, J.A., Santana-Ortega, A.T., 2002. A general theory on fish aggregation to floating objects: An alternative to the meeting point hypothesis. Rev. Fish Biol. Fish. 11, 255–277. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1020302414472
- Cau, A., Bellodi, A., Cannas, R., Fois, M., Guidetti, P., Moccia, D., Porcu, C., Pusceddu, A., Follesa, M.C.,
   2019. European spiny lobster recovery from overfishing enhanced through active restocking in Fully Protected Areas. Sci. Rep. 9, 13025.
   https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-49553-8
- Causon, P.D., Gill, A.B., 2018. Linking ecosystem services with epibenthic biodiversity change following installation of offshore wind farms. Environ. Sci. Policy 89, 340–347. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envsci.2018.08.013
- Cazenave, P.W., Torres, R., Allen, J.I., 2016. Unstructured grid modelling of offshore wind farm impacts on seasonally stratified shelf seas. Prog. Oceanogr. 145, 25–41. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pocean.2016.04.004
- Chang, M.-H., Tang, T.Y., Ho, C.-R., Chao, S.-Y., 2013. Kuroshio-induced wake in the lee of Green Island off Taiwan. J. Geophys. Res. Oceans 118, 1508–1519. https://doi.org/10.1002/jgrc.20151
- Chitteth Ramachandran, R., Desmond, C., Judge, F., Serraris, J.-J., Murphy, J., 2022. Floating wind turbines: marine operations challenges and opportunities. Wind Energy Sci. 7, 903– 924. https://doi.org/10.5194/wes-7-903-2022
- Claisse, J.T., Pondella, D.J., Love, M., Zahn, L.A., Williams, C.M., Williams, J.P., Bull, A.S., 2014. Oil platforms off California are among the most productive marine fish habitats globally. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 111, 15462–15467.
- Collie, J.S., Escanero, G.A., Valentine, P.C., 1997. Effects of bottom fishing on the benthic megafauna of Georges Bank. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 155, 159–172.
- Copping, A.E., Hemery, L.G., Overhus, D.M., Garavelli, L., Freeman, M.C., Whiting, J.M., Gorton, A.M., Farr, H.K., Rose, D.J., Tugade, L.G., 2020. Potential environmental effects of marine renewable energy development—the state of the science. J. Mar. Sci. Eng. 8, 879.
- Copping, A.E., Sather, N., Hanna, L., Whiting, J., Zydlewski, G., Staines, G., Gill, A., Hutchison, I., O'Hagan, A.M., Simas, T., 2016. State of the science report: Environmental effects of marine renewable energy development around the world.
- Costello, M.J., Ballantine, B., 2015. Biodiversity conservation should focus on no-take Marine Reserves: 94% of Marine Protected Areas allow fishing. Trends Ecol. Evol. 30, 507–509. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2015.06.011

- Cox, S.L., Embling, C.B., Hosegood, P.J., Votier, S.C., Ingram, S.N., 2018. Oceanographic drivers of marine mammal and seabird habitat-use across shelf-seas: A guide to key features and recommendations for future research and conservation management. Estuar. Coast. Shelf Sci. 212, 294–310. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecss.2018.06.022
- Cudney-Bueno, R., Lavín, M.F., Marinone, S.G., Raimondi, P.T., Shaw, W.W., 2009. Rapid Effects of Marine Reserves via Larval Dispersal. PLOS ONE 4, e4140. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0004140
- Dannheim, J., Bergström, L., Birchenough, S.N.R., Brzana, R., Boon, A.R., Coolen, J.W.P., Dauvin, J.C., De Mesel, I., Derweduwen, J., Gill, A.B., Hutchison, Z.L., Jackson, A.C., Janas, U., Martin, G., Raoux, A., Reubens, J., Rostin, L., Vanaverbeke, J., Wilding, T.A., Wilhelmsson, D., Degraer, S., 2020. Benthic effects of offshore renewables: identification of knowledge gaps and urgently needed research. ICES J. Mar. Sci. 77, 1092–1108. https://doi.org/10.1093/ICESJMS/FSZ018
- De Backer, A., Buyse, J., Hostens, K., 2020. A decade of soft sediment epibenthos and fish monitoring at the Belgian offshore wind farm area., in: Environmental Impacts of Offshore Wind Farms in the Belgian Part of the North Sea: Empirical Evidence Inspiring Priority Monitoring, Research and Management. Series 'Memoirs on the Marine Environment'. pp. 79–113.
- Dempster, T., Taquet, M., 2004. Fish aggregation device (FAD) research: gaps in current knowl edge and future directions for ecological studies. Rev. Fish Biol. Fish. 14, 21–42. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11160-004-3151-x
- Deudero, S., Morales-Nin, B., 2001. Prey selectivity in planktivorous juvenile associated with floating objects in the western Mediterranean. Aquac. Res. 32, 481–490. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2109.2001.00592.x
- Dias, V., Oliveira, F., Boavida, J., Serrão, E.A., Gonçalves, J.M.S., Coelho, M.A.G., 2020. High Coral Bycatch in Bottom-Set Gillnet Coastal Fisheries Reveals Rich Coral Habitats in Southern Portugal. Front. Mar. Sci. 7. on marine protected areas with five key features. Nature 506, 216–220.
- Dinmore, T.A., Duplisea, D.E., Rackham, B.D., Maxwell, D.L., Jennings, S., 2003. Impact of a large-scale area closure on patterns of fishing disturbance and the consequences for benthic communities. ICES Journal of Marine Science 60, 371–380. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1054-3139(03)00010-9
- Diz, D., Johnson, D., Riddell, M., Rees, S., Battle, J., Gjerde, K., Hennige, S., Roberts, J.M., 2018. Mainstreaming marine biodiversity into the SDGs: The role of other effective area-based conservation measures (SDG 14.5). Mar. Policy 93, 251–261. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpol.2017.08.019
- Doty, M.S., Oguri, M., 1956. The Island Mass Effect. ICES J. Mar. Sci. 22, 33–37. https://doi.org/10.1093/icesjms/22.1.33
- Dugdale, R.C., Wilkerson, F.P., Hogue, V.E., Marchi, A., 2006. Nutrient controls on new production in the Bodega Bay, California, coastal upwelling plume. Deep Sea Res. Part II Top. Stud. Oceanogr., The Role of Wind-Driven Flow in Shelf Productivity 53, 3049–3062. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dsr2.2006.07.009
- Edgar, G.J., Stuart-Smith, R.D., Willis, T.J., Kininmonth, S., Baker, S.C., Banks, S., Barrett, N.S., Becerro, M.A., Bernard, A.T., Berkhout, J., 2014. Global conservation outcomes depend on

marine protected areas with five key features. Nature 506, 216–220.

- Ehrnsten, E., Norkko, A., Müller-Karulis, B., Gustafsson, E., Gustafsson, B.G., 2020. The meagre future of benthic fauna in a coastal sea—Benthic responses to recovery from eutrophication in a changing climate. Glob. Change Biol. 26, 2235–2250. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.15014
- Estradivari, Agung, Muh. F., Adhuri, D.S., Ferse, S.C.A., Sualia, I., Andradi-Brown, D.A., Campbell,
  S.J., Iqbal, M., Jonas, H.D., Lazuardi, M.E., Nanlohy, H., Pakiding, F., Pusparini, N.K.S.,
  Ramadhana, H.C., Ruchimat, T., Santiadji, I.W.V., Timisela, N.R., Veverka, L., Ahmadia, G.N.,
  2022. Marine conservation beyond MPAs: Towards the recognition of other effective
  area-based conservation measures (OECMs) in Indonesia. Mar. Policy 137, 104939.
  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpol.2021.104939
- Fabi, G., Grati, F., Puletti, M., Scarcella, G., 2004. Effects on fish community induced by installation of two gas platforms in the Adriatic Sea. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 273, 187–197. https://doi.org/10.3354/MEPS273187
- Farr, H., Ruttenberg, B., Walter, R.K., Wang, Y.-H., White, C., 2021. Potential environmental effects of deepwater floating offshore wind energy facilities. Ocean Coast. Manag. 207, 105611.
- Fauvelot, C., Bertozzi, F., Costantini, F., Airoldi, L., Abbiati, M., 2009. Lower genetic diversity in the limpet Patella caerulea on urban coastal structures compared to natural rocky habitats. Mar. Biol. 156, 2313–2323. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00227-009-1259-1
- Fauvelot, C., Costantini, F., Virgilio, M., Abbiati, M., 2012. Do artificial structures alter marine invertebrate genetic makeup? Mar. Biol. 159, 2797–2807. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00227-012-2040-4
- Fernandes, P.G., Cook, R.M., 2013. Reversal of Fish Stock Decline in the Northeast Atlantic. Curr. Biol. 23, 1432–1437. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2013.06.016
- Filmalter, J., Cowley, P., Forget, F., Dagorn, L., 2015. Fine-scale 3-dimensional movement behaviour of silky sharks Carcharhinus falciformis associated with fish aggregating devices (FADs). Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 539, 207–223. https://doi.org/10.3354/MEPS11514
- Foggo, A., Attrill, M.J., Frost, M.T., Rowden, A.A., 2003. Estimating marine species richness: an evaluation of six extrapolative techniques. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 248, 15–26. https://doi.org/10.3354/meps248015
- Forteath, G.N.R., Picken, B., Ralph, R., Williams, J., 1982. Marine growth studies on the North Sea oil. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 8, 61–68.
- Freiwald, A., Fossâ, J.H., Grehan, A., Koslow, T., Roberts, J.M., 2004. Cold-water coral reefs: out of sight-no longer out of mind. UNEP-WCMC.
- Garthe, S., Hüppop, O., 2004. Scaling possible adverse effects of marine wind farms on seabirds: developing and applying a vulnerability index. J. Appl. Ecol. 41, 724–734. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.0021-8901.2004.00918.x
- Gavin & Doherty Geosolutions, 2022. First National Ports Study. Wind Energy Ireland.
- Genin, A., 2004. Bio-physical coupling in the formation of zooplankton and fish aggregations over abrupt topographies. J. Mar. Syst., The Role of Biophysical Coupling in Concentrating Marine Organisms Around Shallow Topographies 50, 3–20. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmarsys.2003.10.008

35

- Gerber, L.R., Heppell, S.S., Ballantyne, F., Sala, E., 2005. The role of dispersal and demography in determining the efficacy of marine reserves. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 62, 863–871. https://doi.org/10.1139/f05-046
- Gill, A.B., 2005. Offshore renewable energy: ecological implications of generating electricity in the coastal zone. J. Appl. Ecol. 605–615.
- Gill, A.B., Degraer, S., Lipsky, A., Mavraki, N., Methratta, E., Brabant, R., 2020. Setting the Contect for Offhsore Wind Development Effects on Fish and Fisheries. Oceanography 33, 118–127.

Gill, A.B., Desender, M., 2020. 2020 State of the Science Report, Chapter 5: Risk to Animals from Electromagnetic Fields Emitted by Electric Cables and Marine Renewable Energy Devices.

Global Wind Energy Council, 2022. GWEC Global Wind Report 2022. Brussels, Belgium.

Goñi, R., Hilborn, R., Díaz, D., Mallol, S., Adlerstein, S., 2010. Net contribution of spillover from a marine reserve to fishery catches. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 400, 233–243. https://doi.org/10.3354/meps08419

- Greenstreet, S.P.R., Fraser, H.M., Piet, G.J., 2009. Using MPAs to address regional-scale ecological objectives in the North Sea: modelling the effects of fishing effort displacement. ICES Journal of Marine Science 66, 90–100. https://doi.org/10.1093/icesjms/fsn214
- Griffiths, J.R., Kadin, M., Nascimento, F.J.A., Tamelander, T., Törnroos, A., Bonaglia, S., Bonsdorff, E.,
  Brüchert, V., Gårdmark, A., Järnström, M., Kotta, J., Lindegren, M., Nordström, M.C., Norkko, A.,
  Olsson, J., Weigel, B., Žydelis, R., Blenckner, T., Niiranen, S., Winder, M., 2017. The importance of
  benthic-pelagic coupling for marine ecosystem functioning in a changing world. Glob. Change
  Biol. 23, 2179–2196. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.13642
- Grorud-Colvert, K., Sullivan-Stack, J., Roberts, C., Constant, V., Horta e Costa, B., Pike, E.P., Kingston, N., Laffoley, D., Sala, E., Claudet, J., 2021. The MPA Guide: A framework to achieve global goals for the ocean. Science 373, eabf0861.
- Guillotreau, P., Salladarré, F., Dewals, P., Dagorn, L., 2011. Fishing tuna around Fish Aggregating Devices (FADs) vs free swimming schools: Skipper decision and other determining factors. Fish. Res. 109, 234–242. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FISHRES.2011.02.007
- Hammar, L., Perry, D., Gullström, M., 2016. Offshore Wind Power for Marine Conservation. Open J. Mar. Sci. 6, 66–78. https://doi.org/10.4236/ojms.2016.61007
- Hasegawa, D., Lewis, M.R., Gangopadhyay, A., 2009. How islands cause phytoplankton to bloom in their wakes. Geophys. Res. Lett. 36. https://doi.org/10.1029/2009GL039743
- Hays, G.C., Ferreira, L.C., Sequeira, A.M.M., Meekan, M.G., Duarte, C.M., Bailey, H., Bailleul, F., Bowen,
  W.D., Caley, M.J., Costa, D.P., Eguíluz, V.M., Fossette, S., Friedlaender, A.S., Gales, N., Gleiss, A.C.,
  Gunn, J., Harcourt, R., Hazen, E.L., Heithaus, M.R., Heupel, M., Holland, K., Horning, M., Jonsen, I.,
  Kooyman, G.L., Lowe, C.G., Madsen, P.T., Marsh, H., Phillips, R.A., Righton, D., Ropert-Coudert, Y.,
  Sato, K., Shaffer, S.A., Simpfendorfer, C.A., Sims, D.W., Skomal, G., Takahashi, A., Trathan, P.N.,
  Wikelski, M., Womble, J.N., Thums, M., 2016. Key Questions in Marine Megafauna Movement
  Ecology. Trends Ecol. Evol. 31, 463–475. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2016.02.015

- Herbert-Read, J.E., Thornton, A., Amon, D.J., Birchenough, S.N., Côté, I.M., Dias, M.P., Godley, B.J., Keith, S.A., McKinley, E., Peck, L.S., 2022. A global horizon scan of issues impacting marine and coastal biodiversity conservation. Nat. Ecol. Evol. 1–9.
- Hoffmann, R.C., 2005. A brief history of aquatic resource use in medieval Europe. Helgol. Mar. Res. 59, 22–30. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10152-004-0203-5
- Humphreys, J., Clark, R.W., 2020. Marine protected areas: Quo Vadis?, in: Marine Protected Areas. Elsevier, pp. 763–768.
- Hutchison, Zoë L., Bartley, M.L., Degraer, S., English, P., Khan, A., Livermore, J., Rumes, B., King, J.W., 2020. Offshore Wind Energy and Benthic Habitat Changes: Lessons from Block Island Wind Farm. Oceanography 33, 58–69.
- Hutchison, Zoe L., Secor, D.H., Gill, A.B., 2020. The challenge is to understand how EMFs are perceived by receptive and which saptiotemporal scales relate to relevant life stages and movement ecology. OCEANOGRAPHY 33, 96–107.
- Ikhennicheu, M., Lynch, M., Doole, S., Borisade, F., Matha, D., Domingouz, J., Vicente, R., Habekost, T., Ramirez, L., Potestio, S., 2021. Review of the state of the art of mooring and anchoring designs, technical challenges and identification of relevant DLCs. Corewind, Europe.
- Inger, R., Attrill, M.J., Bearhop, S., Broderick, A.C., James Grecian, W., Hodgson, D.J., Mills, C., Sheehan, E., Votier, S.C., Witt, M.J., Godley, B.J., 2009. Marine renewable energy: potential benefits to biodiversity? An urgent call for research. J. Appl. Ecol. 46, 1145–1153. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2664.2009.01697.x
- IUCN, W., 2018. Draft) Guidelines for Recognising And Reporting Other Effective Area-based Conservation Measures. IUCN Switz. Version 1.
- Jennings, S., Blanchard, J.L., 2004. Fish Abundance with No Fishing: Predictions Based on Macroecological Theory. J. Anim. Ecol. 73, 632–642.
- Jennings, S., Kaiser, M.J., 1998. The effects of fishing on marine ecosystems, in: Advances in Marine Biology. Elsevier, pp. 201–352.
- Jensen, A., 2002. Artificial reefs of Europe: perspective and future. ICES J. Mar. Sci. 59, S3–S13. https://doi.org/10.1006/jmsc.2002.1298
- Josse, E., Dagorn, L., Bertrand, A., 2000. Typology and behaviour of tuna aggregations around fish aggregating devices from acoustic surveys in French Polynesia. Aquat. Living Resour. 13, 183–192.
- Kaiser, M.J., Clarke, K.R., Hinz, H., Austen, M.C.V., Somerfield, P.J., Karakassis, I., 2006. Global analysis of response and recovery of benthic biota to fishing. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 311, 1– 14. https://doi.org/10.3354/meps311001
- Kaiser, M.J., Ramsay, K., Richardson, C.A., Spence, F.E., Brand, A.R., 2000. Chronic fishing disturbance has changed shelf sea benthic community structure. J. Anim. Ecol. 69, 494–503.
- Karama, K.S., Matsushita, Y., 2019. A Review on Anchored Fish Aggregating Devices (aFADs) as a Tool to Promote and Manage Artisanal Fisheries. J. Fish. Eng. 56, 1–13. https://doi.org/10.18903/fisheng.56.1\_1

- Karlsson, R., Tivefälth, M., Duranović, I., Martinsson, S., Kjølhamar, A., Murvoll, K.M., 2022. Artificial hard-substrate colonisation in the offshore Hywind Scotland Pilot Park. Wind Energy Sci. 7, 801–814. https://doi.org/10.5194/wes-7-801-2022
- Kay, M.C., Lenihan, H.S., Guenther, C.M., Wilson, J.R., Miller, C.J., Shrout, S.W., 2012. Collaborative assessment of California spiny lobster population and fishery responses to a marine reserve network. Ecol. Appl. 22, 322–335. https://doi.org/10.1890/11-0155.1
- Kerckhof, F., De Mesel, I., Degraer, S., 2016. Do wind farms favour introduced hard substrata species. Environ. Impacts Offshore Wind Farms Belg. Part North Sea Environ. Impact Monit. Reloaded 61–75.
- Krone, R., Dederer, G., Kanstinger, P., Krämer, P., Schneider, C., Schmalenbach, I., 2017. Mobile demersal megafauna at common offshore wind turbine foundations in the German Bight (North Sea) two years after deployment-increased production rate of Cancer pagurus. Mar. Environ. Res. 123, 53–61.
- Lange, M., Burkhard, B., Garthe, S., Gee, K., Kannen, A., Lenhart, H., Windhorst, W., 2010. Analyzing coastal and marine changes: offshore wind farming as a case study. Zuk. Küste- Coast. Futur.
- Langhamer, O., 2016. The location of offshore wave power devices structures epifaunal assemblages. Int. J. Mar. Energy 16, 174–180. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.IJOME.2016.07.007
- Langhamer, O., 2012. Artificial Reef Effect in relation to Offshore Renewable Energy Conversion: State of the Art. Sci. World J. 2012, 386713. https://doi.org/10.1100/2012/386713
- Lass, H.U., Mohrholz, V., Knoll, M., Prandke, H., 2008. Enhanced mixing downstream of a pile in an estuarine flow. J. Mar. Syst. 74, 505–527.
- Lawrence, J.M., Fernandes, P.G., 2021. A switch in species dominance of a recovering pelagic ecosystem. Curr. Biol. 31, 4354-4360.e3. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2021.07.020
- Lester, S.E., Halpern, B.S., 2008. Biological responses in marine no-take reserves versus partially protected areas. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 367, 49–56.
- Lieber, L., Nimmo-Smith, W.A.M., Waggitt, J.J., Kregting, L., 2019. Localised anthropogenic wake generates a predictable foraging hotspot for top predators. Commun. Biol. 2, 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1038/s42003-019-0364-z
- Linders, T., Nilsson, P., Wikström, A., Sköld, M., 2018. Distribution and fate of trawling-induced suspension of sediments in a marine protected area. ICES J. Mar. Sci. 75, 785–795. https://doi.org/10.1093/icesjms/fsx196
- Lloret, J., Turiel, A., Solé, J., Berdalet, E., Sabatés, A., Olivares, A., Gili, J.-M., Vila-Subirós, J., Sardá, R., 2022. Unravelling the ecological impacts of large-scale offshore wind farms in the Mediterranean Sea. Sci. Total Environ. 824, 153803. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2022.153803
- Lotze, H.K., Worm, B., 2009. Historical baselines for large marine animals. Trends Ecol. Evol. 24, 254–262. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2008.12.004

- Love, M.S., Nishimoto, M.M., Snook, L., Kui, L., 2019. An analysis of the sessile, structureforming invertebrates living on California oil and gas platforms. Bull. Mar. Sci. 95, 583–596. https://doi.org/10.5343/bms.2017.1042
- Love, M.S., York, A., 2006. The relationships between fish assemblages and the amount of bottom horizontal beam exposed at California oil platforms: fish habitat preferences at man-made platforms and (by inference) at natural reefs. Fish. Bull. 104, 542–550.
- Ludewig, E., 2015. Analysis 02: OWF Effect on the Ocean, in: On the Effect of Offshore Wind Farms on the Atmosphere and Ocean Dynamics. Springer, pp. 51–125.
- Ma, K.-T., Luo, Y., Kwan, C.-T.T., Wu, Y., 2019. Mooring system engineering for offshore structures. Gulf Professional Publishing.
- Maclean, I.M.D., Inger, R., Benson, D., Booth, C.G., Embling, C.B., Grecian, W.J., Heymans, J.J.,
   Plummer, K.E., Shackshaft, M., Sparling, C.E., Wilson, B., Wright, L.J., Bradbury, G., Christen, N.,
   Godley, B.J., Jackson, A.C., McCluskie, A., Nicholls-Lee, R., Bearhop, S., 2014. Resolving issues
   with environmental impact assessment of marine renewable energy installations. Front. Mar.
   Sci. 1.
- Maldonado, M., Aguilar, R., Bannister, R., Bell, J., Conway, J., Dayton, P., Díaz, C., Gutt, J., Kelly, M., Kenchington, E., 2017. Sponge grounds as key marine habitats: a synthetic review of types, structure, functional roles, and conservation concerns. Mar. Anim. For. Ecol. Benthic Biodivers. Hotspots.
- Malone, M.A., Buck, K.M., Moreno, G., Sancho, G., 2011. Diet of three large pelagic fishes associated with drifting fish aggregating devices (DFADs) in the western equatorial Indian Ocean. Anim. Biodivers. Conserv. 34, 287–294. https://doi.org/10.32800/ABC.2011.34.0287
- Marcus, N.H., Boero, F., 1998. Minireview: The importance of benthic-pelagic coupling and the forgotten role of life cycles in coastal aquatic systems. Limnol. Oceanogr. 43, 763–768. https://doi.org/10.4319/10.1998.43.5.0763
- Mavraki, N., Braechman, U., Degraer, S., Moens, T., Vanaverbeke, J., 2020. On the Food-Web Ecology in Offshore Wind Farms Areas: Lessons from 4 Years of Research. MEMOIRS 115.
- Mavraki, N., Degraer, S., Vanaverbeke, J., 2021. Offshore wind farms and the attraction– production hypothesis: insights from a combination of stomach content and stable isotope analyses. Hydrobiologia 848, 1639–1657. https://doi.org/10.1007/S10750-021-04553-6/TABLES/7
- May, R., Nygård, T., Falkdalen, U., Åström, J., Hamre, Ø., Stokke, B.G., 2020. Paint it black: Efficacy of increased wind turbine rotor blade visibility to reduce avian fatalities. Ecol. Evol. 10, 8927–8935. https://doi.org/10.1002/ece3.6592
- McGillicuddy, D.J., 2016. Mechanisms of physical-biological-biogeochemical interaction at the oceanic mesoscale. Annu Rev Mar Sci 8, 125–159.
- McLean, D.L., Ferreira, L.C., Benthuysen, J.A., Miller, K.J., Schläppy, M.-L., Ajemian, M.J., Berry, O., Birchenough, S.N., Bond, T., Boschetti, F., 2022. Influence of offshore oil and gas structures on seascape ecological connectivity. Glob. Change Biol. 28, 3515–3536.

- McQuatters-Gollop, A., Guérin, L., Arroyo, N.L., Aubert, A., Artigas, L.F., Bedford, J., Corcoran, E.,
  Dierschke, V., Elliott, S.A.M., Geelhoed, S.C.V., Gilles, A., González-Irusta, J.M., Haelters, J.,
  Johansen, M., Le Loc'h, F., Lynam, C.P., Niquil, N., Meakins, B., Mitchell, I., Padegimas, B., Pesch,
  R., Preciado, I., Rombouts, I., Safi, G., Schmitt, P., Schückel, U., Serrano, A., Stebbing, P., De Ia
  Torriente, A., Vina-Herbon, C., 2022. Assessing the state of marine biodiversity in the
  Northeast Atlantic. Ecol. Indic. 141, 109148. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2022.109148
- Messié, M., Petrenko, A., Doglioli, A.M., Aldebert, C., Martinez, E., Koenig, G., Bonnet, S., Moutin, T., 2020. The Delayed Island Mass Effect: How Islands can Remotely Trigger Blooms in the Oligotrophic Ocean. Geophys. Res. Lett. 47, e2019GL085282. https://doi.org/10.1029/2019GL085282
- Methratta, E.T., Hawkins, A., Hooker, B.R., Lipsky, A., Hare, J.A., 2020. Offshore Wind Development in the Northeast US Shelf Large Marine Ecosystem: Ecological, Human, and Fishery Management Dimensions. Oceanography 33, 16–27.
- Meyer-Gutbrod, E.L., Love, M.S., Schroeder, D.M., Claisse, J.T., Kui, L., Miller, R.J., 2020. Forecasting the legacy of offshore oil and gas platforms on fish community structure and productivity. Ecol. Appl. 30, e02185–e02185. https://doi.org/10.1002/EAP.2185
- Miatta, M., Snelgrove, P.V.R., 2022. Sea pens as indicators of macrofaunal communities in deepsea sediments: Evidence from the Laurentian Channel Marine Protected Area. Deep Sea Res. Part Oceanogr. Res. Pap. 182, 103702. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dsr.2022.103702
- Middelburg, J.J., 2018. Reviews and syntheses: to the bottom of carbon processing at the seafloor. Biogeosciences 15, 413–427. https://doi.org/10.5194/bg-15-413-2018
- Murawski, S.A., Brown, R., Lai, H.-L., Rago, P.J., Hendrickson, L., 2000. Large-scale closed areas as a fishery-management tool in temperate marine systems: the Georges Bank experience. Bull. Mar. Sci. 66, 775–798.
- Nature, 2020. The United Nations must get its new biodiversity targets right. Nature 578, 337–338. https://doi.org/10.1038/d41586-020-00450-5
- Norkko, A., Villnäs, A., Norkko, J., Valanko, S., Pilditch, C., 2013. Size matters: implications of the loss of large individuals for ecosystem function. Sci. Rep. 3, 1–7.
- Ohayon, S., Granot, I., Belmaker, J., 2021. A meta-analysis reveals edge effects within marine protected areas. Nat. Ecol. Evol. 5, 1301–1308.
- Olsgard, F., Schaanning, M.T., Widdicombe, S., Kendall, M.A., Austen, M.C., 2008. Effects of bottom trawling on ecosystem functioning. J. Exp. Mar. Biol. Ecol. 366, 123–133.
- Page, Henry M, Culver, Carolynn S, Dugan, Jenifer E, Mardian Page, B., Page, H M, Culver, C S, Dugan, J
   E, Mardian, B., 2008. Oceanographic gradients and patterns in invertebrate assemblages on offshore oil platforms. ICES J. Mar. Sci. 65, 851–861.
   https://doi.org/10.1093/ICESJMS/FSN060

- Paskyabi, M.B., Fer, I., 2012. Upper Ocean Response to Large Wind Farm Effect in the Presence of Surface Gravity Waves. Energy Procedia, Selected papers from Deep Sea Offshore Wind R&D Conference, Trondheim, Norway, 19-20 January 2012 24, 245–254. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.egypro.2012.06.106
- Pelc, R.A., Warner, R.R., Gaines, S.D., Paris, C.B., 2010. Detecting larval export from marine reserves. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 107, 18266–18271. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0907368107
- Perkol-Finkel, S., Zilman, G., Sella, I., Miloh, T., Benayahu, Y., 2008. Floating and fixed artificial habitats: Spatial and temporal patterns of benthic communities in a coral reef environment. Estuar. Coast. Shelf Sci. 77, 491–500. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ECSS.2007.10.005
- Petersen, J.K., Malm, T., 2006. Offshore Windmill Farms: Threats to or Possibilities for the Marine Environment. AMBIO J. Hum. Environ. 35, 75–80. https://doi.org/10.1579/0044-7447(2006)35[75:OWFTTO]2.0.CO;2
- Pikesley, S.K., Solandt, J.-L., Trundle, C., Witt, M.J., 2021. Benefits beyond "features": Cooperative monitoring highlights MPA value for enhanced seabed integrity. Mar. Policy 134, 104801. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpol.2021.104801
- Pinnix, WilliamD., Nelson, PeterA., Stutzer, G., Wright, KatrinaA., 2013. Residence time and habitat use of coho salmon in Humboldt Bay, California: an acoustic telemetry study. Environ. Biol. Fishes 96, 315–323. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10641-012-0038-x
- Ponti, M., Linares, C., Cerrano, C., Rodolfo-Metalpa, R., Hoeksema, B.W., 2021. Editorial: Biogenic Reefs at Risk: Facing Globally Widespread Local Threats and Their Interaction With Climate Change. Front. Mar. Sci. 8.
- Porté-Agel, F., Bastankhah, M., Shamsoddin, S., 2020. Wind-Turbine and Wind-Farm Flows: A Review. Bound.-Layer Meteorol. 174, 1–59. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10546-019-00473-0
- Qu, Z., Thrush, S., Parsons, D., Lewis, N., 2021. Economic valuation of the snapper recruitment effect from a well-established temperate no-take marine reserve on adjacent fisheries. Mar. Policy 134, 104792. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpol.2021.104792
- Rennau, H., Schimmels, S., Burchard, H., 2012. On the effect of structure-induced resistance and mixing on inflows into the Baltic Sea: a numerical model study. Coast. Eng. 60, 53–68.
- Robert, M., Dagorn, L., Lopez, J., Moreno, G., Deneubourg, J.L., 2013. Does social behavior influence the dynamics of aggregations formed by tropical tunas around floating objects? An experimental approach. J. Exp. Mar. Biol. Ecol. 440, 238–243. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JEMBE.2013.01.005
- Roberts, C.M., Bohnsack, J.A., Gell, F., Hawkins, J.P., Goodridge, R., 2001. Effects of Marine Reserves on Adjacent Fisheries. Science 294, 1920–1923. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.294.5548.1920
- Roberts, J.M., 2002. The Occurrence of the Coral Lophelia pertusa and Other Conspicuous Epifauna around an Oil Platform in the North Sea. Underw. Technol. 25, 83–92. https://doi.org/10.3723/175605402783219163

Roberts, J.M., 2000. Full effects of oil rigs on corals are not yet known. Nature 403, 242–242.

Roberts, J.M., Wheeler, A.J., Freiwald, A., 2006. Reefs of the Deep: The Biology and Geology of Cold-Water Coral Ecosystems. Science 312, 543–547. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1119861

- Rodil, I.F., Lucena-Moya, P., Tamelander, T., Norkko, J., Norkko, A., 2020. Seasonal Variability in Benthic–Pelagic Coupling: Quantifying Organic Matter Inputs to the Seafloor and Benthic Macrofauna Using a Multi-Marker Approach. Front. Mar. Sci. 7.
- Rodríguez-Rodríguez, D., Sánchez-Espinosa, A., Abdul Malak, D., 2021. Potential contribution of OECMs to international area-based conservation targets in a biodiversity rich country, Spain. J. Nat. Conserv. 62, 126019. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jnc.2021.126019
- Rowe, G.T., Clifford, C.H., Smith, K.L., Hamilton, P.L., 1975. Benthic nutrient regeneration and its coupling to primary productivity in coastal waters. Nature 255, 215–217. https://doi.org/10.1038/255215a0
- Russ, G.R., 2002. Yet another review of marine reserves as reef fishery management tools. Coral Reef Fishes Dyn. Divers. Complex Ecosyst. 24, 421.
- Sala, E., Giakoumi, S., 2018. No-take marine reserves are the most effective protected areas in the ocean. ICES J. Mar. Sci. 75, 1166–1168. https://doi.org/10.1093/icesjms/fsx059
- Sala, E., Mayorga, J., Bradley, D., Cabral, R.B., Atwood, T.B., Auber, A., Cheung, W., Costello, C., Ferretti,
  F., Friedlander, A.M., Gaines, S.D., Garilao, C., Goodell, W., Halpern, B.S., Hinson, A., Kaschner, K.,
  Kesner-Reyes, K., Leprieur, F., McGowan, J., Morgan, L.E., Mouillot, D., Palacios-Abrantes, J.,
  Possingham, H.P., Rechberger, K.D., Worm, B., Lubchenco, J., 2021. Protecting the global ocean
  for biodiversity, food and climate. Nature 592, 397–402.
  https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-021-03371-z
- Sammarco, P.W., Brazeau, D.A., Sinclair, J., 2012. Genetic Connectivity in Scleractinian Corals across the Northern Gulf of Mexico: Oil/Gas Platforms, and Relationship to the Flower Garden Banks. PLOS ONE 7, e30144. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0030144
- Sasikumar, G., Mohamed, K.S., Rohit, P., Sampathkumar, G., 2015. Can an aggregation-fishery be responsible for recruitment overfishing? A case study on cuttlefish stock associated with moored fish aggregation devices (FADs). Fish. Res. 172, 148–156. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FISHRES.2015.06.027
- Schroeder, D.M., Love, M.S., 2004. Ecological and political issues surrounding decommissioning of offshore oil facilities in the Southern California Bight. Ocean Coast. Manag. 47, 21–48. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.OCECOAMAN.2004.03.002
- Scott, K., Harsanyi, P., Easton, B.A.A., Piper, A.J.R., Rochas, C.M.V., Lyndon, A.R., 2021. Exposure to Electromagnetic Fields (EMF) from Submarine Power Cables Can Trigger Strength-Dependent Behavioural and Physiological Responses in Edible Crab, Cancer pagurus (L.). J. Mar. Sci. Eng. 9, 776. https://doi.org/10.3390/jmse9070776
- Scott, K., Harsanyi, P., Lyndon, A.R., 2018. Understanding the effects of electromagnetic field emissions from Marine Renewable Energy Devices (MREDs) on the commercially important edible crab, Cancer pagurus (L.). Mar. Pollut. Bull. 131, 580–588. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2018.04.062

- Sempo, G., Dagorn, L., Robert, M., Deneubourg, J.L., 2013. Impact of increasing deployment of artificial floating objects on the spatial distribution of social fish species. J. Appl. Ecol. 50, 1081–1092. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2664.12140
- Sheehan, E.V., Stevens, T.F., Gall, S.C., Cousens, S.L., Attrill, M.J., 2013. Recovery of a temperate reef assemblage in a marine protected area following the exclusion of towed demersal fishing. PloS One 8, e83883.
- Shester, G., Ayers, J., 2005. A cost effective approach to protecting deep-sea coral and sponge ecosystems with an application to Alaska's Aleutian Islands region, in: Freiwald, A., Roberts, J.M. (Eds.), Cold-Water Corals and Ecosystems, Erlangen Earth Conference Series. Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, pp. 1151–1169. https://doi.org/10.1007/3-540-27673-4\_59
- Simpson, J.H., Edelsten, D.J., Edwards, A., Morris, N.C.G., Tett, P.B., 1979. The Islay front: Physical structure and phytoplankton distribution. Estuar. Coast. Mar. Sci. 9, 713-IN1. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0302-3524(79)80005-5
- Sinopoli, M., Badalamenti, F., D'Anna, G., Gristina, M., Andaloro, F., 2011. Size influences the spatial distribution and fish-aggregating device use of five Mediterranean fish species. Fish. Manag. Ecol. 18, 456–466. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2400.2011.00800.x
- Slijkerman, D., Tamis, J., 2015. Fisheries displacement effects related to closed areas: a literature review of relevant aspects (No. IMARES report C170/15). IMARES Wageningen UR.
- Smith, J.A., Lowry, M.B., Curtis Champion, , Suthers, I.M., 2016. A designed artificial reef is among the most productive marine fish habitats: new metrics to address "production versus attraction." Mar. Biol. 163. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00227-016-2967-y
- Snodgrass, D.J., Orbesen, E.S., Walter, J.F., Hoolihan, J.P., Brown, C.A., 2020. Potential impacts of oil production platforms and their function as fish aggregating devices on the biology of highly migratory fish species. Rev. Fish Biol. Fish. 30, 405–422.
- Snyder, B., Kaiser, M.J., 2009. Ecological and economic cost-benefit analysis of offshore wind energy. Renew. Energy 34, 1567–1578. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.renene.2008.11.015
- Streich, M.K., Ajemian, M.J., Wetz, J.J., Stunz, G.W., 2017. A Comparison of Fish Community Structure at Mesophotic Artificial Reefs and Natural Banks in the Western Gulf of Mexico. Mar. Coast. Fish.
   9, 170–189. https://doi.org/10.1080/19425120.2017.1282897
- Taormina, B., Di Poi, C., Agnalt, A.-L., Carlier, A., Desroy, N., Escobar-Lux, R.H., D'eu, J.-F., Freytet, F., Durif, C.M.F., 2020. Impact of magnetic fields generated by AC/DC submarine power cables on the behavior of juvenile European lobster (Homarus gammarus). Aquat. Toxicol. 220, 105401. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquatox.2019.105401
- Taquet, M., Sancho, G., Dagorn, L., Gaertner, J.C., Itano, D., Aumeeruddy, R., Wendling, B., Peignon, C.,
   2007. Characterizing fish communities associated with drifting fish aggregating devices (FADs) in the Western Indian Ocean using underwater visual surveys. Aquat. Living Resour. 20,
   331–341. https://doi.org/10.1051/ALR:2008007
- Tillin, H.M., Hiddink, J.G., Jennings, S., Kaiser, M.J., 2006. Chronic bottom trawling alters the functional composition of benthic invertebrate communities on a sea-basin scale. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 318, 31–45.

- Todd, V.L.G., Lavallin, E.W., Macreadie, P.I., 2018. Quantitative analysis of fish and invertebrate assemblage dynamics in association with a North Sea oil and gas installation complex. Mar. Environ. Res. 142, 69–79. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.MARENVRES.2018.09.018
- Todd, V.L.G., Warley, J.C., Todd, I.B., 2016. Meals on wheels? A decade of megafaunal visual and acoustic observations from offshore oil & gas rigs and platforms in the North and Irish seas. PloS One 11, e0153320.
- Todd, V.L.G., Williamson, L.D., Cox, S.E., Todd, I.B., Macreadie, P.I., 2020. Characterizing the first wave of fish and invertebrate colonization on a new offshore petroleum platform. ICES J. Mar. Sci. 77, 1127–1136. https://doi.org/10.1093/icesjms/fsz077
- Toonen, R.J., Wilhelm, T. 'Aulani, Maxwell, S.M., Wagner, D., Bowen, B.W., Sheppard, C.R.C., Taei, S.M.,
   Teroroko, T., Moffitt, R., Gaymer, C.F., Morgan, L., Lewis, N., Sheppard, A.L.S., Parks, J.,
   Friedlander, A.M., 2013. One size does not fit all: The emerging frontier in large-scale marine
   conservation. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 77, 7–10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2013.10.039
- Tougaard, J., Hermannsen, L., Madsen, P.T., 2020. How loud is the underwater noise from operating offshore wind turbines? J. Acoust. Soc. Am. 148, 2885–2893. https://doi.org/10.1121/10.0002453
- Turnbull, J.W., Johnston, E.L., Clark, G.F., 2021. Evaluating the social and ecological effectiveness of partially protected marine areas. Conserv. Biol. 35, 921–932.
- van der Molen, J., Smith, H.C.M., Lepper, P., Limpenny, S., Rees, J., 2014. Predicting the largescale consequences of offshore wind turbine array development on a North Sea ecosystem. Cont. Shelf Res. 85, 60–72. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.csr.2014.05.018
- Vandendriessche, S., Derweduwen, J., Hostens, K., 2015. Equivocal effects of offshore wind farms in Belgium on soft substrate epibenthos and fish assemblages. Hydrobiologia 756, 19–35. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10750-014-1997-z
- Vicente, R.D., 2020. Pathway to cost reduction in floating wind technology.
- Wieczorek, A.J., Negro, S.O., Harmsen, R., Heimeriks, G.J., Luo, L., Hekkert, M.P., 2013. A review of the European offshore wind innovation system. Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev. 26, 294–306. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2013.05.045
- Wilding, T.A., Gill, A.B., Boon, A., Sheehan, E., Dauvin, J., Pezy, J.-P., O'Beirn, F., Janas, U., Rostin, L., De Mesel, I., 2017. Turning off the DRIP ('Data-rich, information-poor') rationalising monitoring with a focus on marine renewable energy developments and the benthos. Renew. Sustain.
   Energy Rev. 74, 848–859. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2017.03.013
- Wilhelmsson, D., Malm, T., Öhman, M.C., 2006. The influence of offshore windpower on demersal fish. ICES J. Mar. Sci. 63, 775–784. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ICESJMS.2006.02.001
- Williams, G.C., 2011. The Global Diversity of Sea Pens (Cnidaria: Octocorallia: Pennatulacea). PLOS ONE 6, e22747. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0022747
- Willsteed, E., Gill, A.B., Birchenough, S.N.R., Jude, S., 2017. Assessing the cumulative environmental effects of marine renewable energy developments: Establishing common ground. Sci. Total Environ. 577, 19–32. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2016.10.152

- Wilson, J.C., Elliott, M., 2009. The habitat-creation potential of offshore wind farms. Wind Energy Int. J. Prog. Appl. Wind Power Convers. Technol. 12, 203–212.
- Wilson, J.C., Elliott, M., Cutts, N.D., Mander, L., Mendão, V., Perez-Dominguez, R., Phelps, A., 2010. Coastal and Offshore Wind Energy Generation: Is It Environmentally Benign? Energies 3, 1383–1422. https://doi.org/10.3390/en3071383
- Wilson, M.W., Lawson, J.M., Rivera-Hechem, M.I., Villaseñor-Derbez, J.C., Gaines, S.D., 2020. Status and trends of moored fish aggregating device (MFAD) fisheries in the Caribbean and Bermuda. Mar. Policy 121, 104148. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpol.2020.104148
- Wu, Z., Tweedley, J.R., Loneragan, N.R., Zhang, X., 2019. Artificial reefs can mimic natural habitats for fish and macroinvertebrates in temperate coastal waters of the Yellow Sea. Ecol. Eng. 139, 105579. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoleng.2019.08.009
- Yusfiandayani, R., Baskoro, M.S., Monintja, D., 2014. Impact of fish aggregating device on sustainable capture fisheries. KnE Life Sci. 2, 224–237. https://doi.org/10.18502/KLS.V110.107
- Zountouridou, E.I., Kiokes, G.C., Chakalis, S., Georgilakis, P.S., Hatziargyriou, N.D., 2015. Offshore floating wind parks in the deep waters of Mediterranean Sea. Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev. 51, 433–448. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2015.06.027





## MaREI – Science Foundation Ireland Centre for Energy, Climate and Marine

www.marei.ie